
No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This 
short form prospectus constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered 
for sale and therein only by persons permitted to sell such securities. The securities being offered and sold hereby have not been 
and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities 
laws of any state in the United States and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the “United States” or to 
“U.S. persons” (“U.S. Persons”) (as such terms are defined in Regulation S promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act) 
(the “United States”) except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable 
U.S. state securities laws. This short form prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of 
the securities offered hereby within the United States or to U.S. Persons. See “Plan of Distribution”.

Information has been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus from documents filed with securities commissions 
or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without 
charge from the Secretary of H2O Innovation Inc. at 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, Province of Québec, 
Canada, G1K 9C5 (telephone (418) 688-0170), and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com. 

SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS 

New Issue November 6, 2019 

H2O INNOVATION INC. 

$14,001,750 

13,335,000 Subscription Receipts 
each representing the right to receive one Unit 

This short form prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of 13,335,000 subscription receipts (the “Initial
Subscription Receipts”) of H2O Innovation Inc. (“H2O Innovation” or the “Corporation”) at a price of $1.05 per 
Initial Subscription Receipt (the “Public Offering Price”).  

The Initial Subscription Receipts will be issued and sold pursuant to an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting 
Agreement”) dated as of October 29, 2019 among the Corporation, Desjardins Securities Inc. and Canaccord Genuity 
Corp. (the “Co-Lead Underwriters”) and Acumen Capital Finance Partners Limited, Beacon Securities Limited, 
Industrial Alliance Securities Inc. and Haywood Securities Inc. (collectively with the Co-Lead Underwriters, 
the “Underwriters”). The Offering Price was determined by negotiation between the Corporation and the Co-Lead 
Underwriters on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters. See “Plan of Distribution”.  

Each Initial Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof to receive, if the Escrow Release Conditions (as defined 
below) are satisfied or waived prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event (as defined below) and without any 
further action on the part of the holder thereof or payment of any additional consideration, one unit of the Corporation 
(an “Initial Unit”). Each Initial Unit will consist of (i) one common share in the share capital of the Corporation 
(a “Common Share”, and each Common Share comprising part of the Initial Unit, an “Initial Unit Share”), and 
(ii) one-half of one common share purchase warrant (each whole common share purchase warrant, an “Initial 
Warrant”). Each Initial Warrant will entitle its holder to purchase one Common Share (an “Initial Warrant Share”), 
at a price of $1.40 per Warrant Share, at any time prior to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on the date that is 24 months 
following the Offering Closing Date (as defined below). See “Description of Securities being Distributed”.  
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Price: $1.05 per Initial Subscription Receipt 

Price to the Public 
Underwriters’ 
Commission(1)

Net Proceeds to the 
Corporation(2)

Per Initial Subscription 
Receipt…………………………………... 

$1.05 $0.0525 $0.9975 

Total (3)(4)(5)……………...………………... $14,001,750 $700,088 $13,301,663 

Notes: 

(1) Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters will receive a commission (the “Underwriters’ Commission”) equal to 5% 
of the gross proceeds of the Offering (including, if applicable, as a result of the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option (as defined below)) 
and the Concurrent Private Placement (as defined below), other than the gross proceeds of sales of Subscription Receipts made to certain 
pre-identified purchasers (the “President’s List Purchasers”), in which case the Underwriters’ Commission will be reduced to 2.5%. 
50% of the Underwriters’ Commission will be payable upon closing of the Offering (the “Offering Closing”) from the gross proceeds of 
the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement. The remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission (the “Remaining 
Underwriters’ Commission”) will be paid from the Escrowed Proceeds (as defined below) and will be payable only upon satisfaction of 
the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the Remaining 
Underwriters’ Commission. In addition, the Corporation will issue to the Underwriters, as additional compensation, non-transferable 
common share purchase warrants (the “Broker Warrants”) entitling the Underwriters to purchase a number of Common Shares 
representing 5% of the total number of Subscription Receipts sold under this Offering (including, if applicable, as a result of the exercise 
of the Over-Allotment Option) and the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Broker Shares”), other than on the Subscription Receipts sold 
to the President’s List Purchasers, in which case the right of the Underwriters to purchase the Broker Shares will be reduced to an amount 
of Broker Warrants representing 2.5% of the total number of Subscription Receipts sold to the President’s List Purchasers. 50% of the 
Broker Warrants will be issuable upon the Financing Closing (as defined below). The remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants will be 
issuable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to 
receive the remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants. The Broker Warrants will be exercisable at a price per Broker Share equal to the 
Public Offering Price for a period of 18 months from the Financing Closing Date. This short form prospectus also qualifies the grant of 
the Broker Warrants and the distribution of any Broker Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Broker Warrants.

(2) After deducting the Underwriters’ Commission (assuming no sales are made to President’s List Purchasers) but before deducting the 
expenses of the Offering, estimated to be $325,000.

(3) The Corporation has also granted the Underwriters an over-allotment option (the “Over-Allotment Option”), exercisable in whole or in 
part in the sole discretion of the Underwriters at any time not later than the earlier of (i) the 30th day from and including the Offering 
Closing Date and (ii) the Termination Time (as defined below), to purchase up to 952,380 additional subscription receipts (the “Over-
Allotment Subscription Receipts”) at the Public Offering Price, with the same terms as the Initial Subscription Receipts, to cover over-
allocations, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. Each Over-Allotment Subscription Receipt will be convertible into one unit 
(each, an “Over-Allotment Unit”). Each Over-Allotment Unit will consist of (i) one Common Share (an “Over-Allotment Share”), and 
(ii) one-half of one common share purchase warrant (each whole common share purchase warrant, an “Over-Allotment Warrant”). Each 
Over-Allotment Warrant will entitle its holder to purchase one Common Share (an “Over-Allotment Warrant Share”), at a price of 
$1.40 per Over-Allotment Warrant Share, at any time prior to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on the date that is 24 months following the Offering 
Closing Date. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the “Price to the Public”, the “Underwriters’ Commission” and the “Net 
Proceeds to the Corporation” will be $15,001,749, $750,088 and $14,251,662, respectively. In the event that the Over-Allotment Option 
is exercised following the conversion of the Initial Subscription Receipts into Initial Units, the Underwriters will have the option to 
exercise the Over-Allotment Option by purchasing up to (i) 952,380 Over-Allotment Units at the Public Offering Price; (ii) 476,190 Over-
Allotment Warrants at a price of $0.001 per Over-Allotment Warrant; or (iii) any combination of Over-Allotment Units and Over-
Allotment Warrants, so long as the aggregate number of Over-Allotment Shares and Over-Allotment Warrants that may be issued upon 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option does not exceed 952,380 Over-Allotment Shares and 476,190 Over-Allotment Warrants. This short 
form prospectus qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts, Over-
Allotment Units or Over-Allotment Warrants. A purchaser who acquires Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts or Over-Allotment Units 
forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those securities under this short form prospectus, regardless of whether 
the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. See 
“Plan of Distribution”. 

(4) Assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and excluding any amounts received upon completion of the Concurrent Private 
Placement. 

(5) Upon completion of the Concurrent Private Placement, the aggregate net proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement 
will be $20,605,163 after deducting the estimated expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement of $325,000 and the 
Underwriters’ Commission of $1,101,588 (assuming no sales are made to President’s List Purchasers). The Underwriters will also be 
entitled to be issued Broker Warrants equal to 5% of the number of Concurrent Subscription Receipts (as defined below) issued under the 
Concurrent Private Placement in the same manner as described in footnote (1) above. 

On October 28, 2019, the Corporation announced that it had, through its wholly owned subsidiary H2O Innovation 
UK Holding Limited (“H2O UK”) entered into a binding sale and purchase agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) 
to acquire, directly or indirectly, all the issued and outstanding shares of Genesys Holdings Limited (“GHL”), Genesys 
International Limited (“GIL”), Genesys Manufacturing Limited (“GML”), Genesys North America, LLC (“GNA” 
and together with GHL, GIL and GML, the “Targets” or “Genesys”) and the 24% interest in Genesys Membrane 
Products S.L. from the shareholders of each of the Targets (collectively, the “Vendors”) for a total consideration of 
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£16,947,000, or $28,391,309 (the “Purchase Price”), subject to adjustments (the “Acquisition”). See “The 
Acquisition”.  

Concurrently with the Offering, the Corporation has agreed to sell, and the Underwriters have agreed to purchase, on 
an underwritten private placement basis pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, 7,647,619 subscription receipts of 
the Corporation (the “Concurrent Subscription Receipts”) at a price of $1.05 per Concurrent Subscription Receipt 
(the “Private Placement Offering Price”) for aggregate gross proceeds of $8,030,000 (the “Concurrent Private 
Placement”). Certain of the Corporation’s current institutional shareholders (each a “Private Placement 
Subscriber”) have confirmed that they will participate in the Concurrent Private Placement and will enter into 
subscription agreements with the Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters (collectively, the “Subscription 
Agreements”) pursuant to each of which the Corporation will agree, among other things, to complete the Concurrent 
Private Placement with the applicable Private Placement Subscriber concurrently with the completion of the Offering. 
Each Concurrent Subscription Receipt will entitle its holder to receive, if the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied 
or waived prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event and without any further action on the part of the holder 
thereof or payment of any additional consideration, an Initial Unit. The Concurrent Private Placement will be made 
pursuant to exemptions from Canadian prospectus requirements and the Concurrent Subscription Receipts will be 
identical to the Initial Subscription Receipts, save that the Concurrent Subscription Receipts, the underlying Initial 
Units, Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrant Shares will be subject to restrictions on resale for a period of four months 
and one day from the date of closing of the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Concurrent Private Placement 
Closing Date”) under applicable securities legislation. This short form prospectus does not qualify the Concurrent 
Subscription Receipts (or the securities underlying the Concurrent Subscription Receipts) for distribution. The 
Concurrent Private Placement Closing (as defined below) is scheduled to be completed concurrently with the Offering 
Closing. Closing of the Concurrent Private Placement and of the Offering are conditional upon each other. The 
Underwriters will receive an Underwriters’ Commission equal to 5% of the gross proceeds of the Concurrent Private 
Placement. 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission will be payable upon the Concurrent Private Placement Closing 
from the gross proceeds of the Concurrent Private Placement. The Remaining Underwriters’ Commission will be paid 
from the Escrowed Proceeds and will be payable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a 
Termination Event occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the Remaining Underwriters’ Commission. 
See “The Acquisition – The Concurrent Private Placement”. The Private Placement Subscribers have confirmed their 
acceptance of these terms and are expected to sign Subscription Agreements reflecting the foregoing terms and 
conditions prior to the Financing Closing Date.

Unless otherwise specified or the subject matter is inconsistent therewith, (i) the Initial Subscription Receipts, the 
Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts and the Concurrent Subscription Receipts are hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the “Subscription Receipts”, (ii) the Initial Units and the Over-Allotment Units are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Units”, (iii) the Initial Unit Shares and the Over-Allotment Shares are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Unit Shares”, (iv) the Initial Warrants and the Over-Allotment Warrants are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Warrants”, (v) the Initial Warrant Shares and the Over-Allotment Warrant Shares are hereinafter 
collectively referred to as the “Warrant Shares”, (vi) the Public Offering Price and the Private Placement Offering 
Price are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Offering Price”, (vii) the Offering Closing and the Concurrent 
Private Placement Closing are hereinafter referred to as the “Financing Closing” and (viii) the Offering Closing Date 
and the Concurrent Private Placement Closing Date are hereinafter referred to as the “Financing Closing Date”.  

The gross proceeds of the Offering and of the Concurrent Private Placement less 50% of the Underwriters’ 
Commission payable at the Financing Closing and the costs and expenses of the Underwriters payable by the 
Corporation at the Financing Closing (the “Escrowed Proceeds”) will be delivered to and held by AST Trust 
Company (Canada) (the “Subscription Receipt Agent”), as agent and bailee on behalf of the holders of Subscription 
Receipts, and invested in short-term obligations of, or guaranteed by, the Government of Canada (and other approved 
investments, herein the “Other Investments”), provided that such short-term obligations or Other Investments are 
qualified investments within the meaning of the Tax Act (as defined below), approved in writing by the Corporation 
and the Co-Lead Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, pending the earlier of the 
delivery of the Escrow Release Notice (as defined below) and the Termination Time, pursuant to the terms of a 
subscription receipt agreement (the “Subscription Receipt Agreement”) to be entered into on the Financing Closing 
Date among the Corporation, the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Co-Lead Underwriters, on behalf of the 
Underwriters. See “Description of Securities being Distributed – Subscription Receipts – Escrowed Proceeds”.  
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Upon (a) satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, being all conditions, undertakings and other matters to be 
satisfied, completed or otherwise met prior to the completion of the Acquisition (in accordance with the Acquisition 
Agreement and without waiver or material amendment of the terms and conditions thereof, in whole or in part, by any 
of the parties thereto unless the prior written consent of the Co-Lead Underwriters is given for such waiver or 
amendment, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld) other than the payment of the Purchase Price, which is to 
be satisfied in part by the release of the Escrowed Funds (as defined below) pursuant to the terms of the Subscription 
Receipt Agreement, (b) the Corporation having delivered to the Underwriters a certificate confirming that all approvals 
required in respect of the Acquisition have been obtained and that the Acquisition will be completed immediately 
following delivery of the Escrow Release Notice and the release of the Escrowed Funds (the “Escrow Release 
Conditions”), prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, and (c) execution and delivery of such Escrow Release 
Notice to the Subscription Receipt Agent prior to the Termination Time: (i) the Subscription Receipt Agent will as 
directed by the Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters (A) release to the Corporation the Escrowed Proceeds, 
together with the interest (the “Earned Interest”) earned on the Escrowed Proceeds between the Financing Closing 
and the earlier of Termination Time and the Acquisition Closing (as defined below) (the “Escrowed Funds”), less 
the Remaining Underwriters’ Commission, and (B) remit to the Underwriters the Remaining Underwriters’ 
Commission; and (ii) the holders of Subscription Receipts will automatically receive, without payment of additional 
consideration or further action, one underlying Unit for each Subscription Receipt held. See “Description of Securities 
being Distributed – Subscription Receipts – Terms of Subscription Receipts”.  

In the event (a) the Escrow Release Notice is not delivered to the Subscription Receipt Agent on or before 5:00 
p.m. (Eastern time) on December 31, 2019 (or such other date as agreed upon by the Corporation and the Co-Lead 
Underwriters, on their behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters), (b) the Acquisition Agreement is terminated 
in accordance with its terms, or (c) the Corporation advises the Co-Lead Underwriters or announces to the public that 
it does not intend to proceed with the Acquisition (the earlier of such dates being the “Termination Time”, and any 
event causing a Termination Time being a  “Termination Event”), each Subscription Receipt will be automatically 
cancelled without any further action. Holders of the Subscription Receipts will, following the Termination Time, 
receive from the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Corporation (if the Escrowed Funds are insufficient), a repayment 
of an amount equal to the Offering Price multiplied by the number of Subscription Receipts held by such holder, plus 
the holder’s pro rata entitlement to the Earned Interest, plus their pro rata portion of an amount equal to the interest 
and other income that would have otherwise been earned between the Financing Closing Date and the Termination 
Time on the 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission and of the cost and expenses of the Underwriters paid at the 
Financing Closing to the Underwriters if such Underwriters’ Commission and costs and expenses had been held in 
escrow as part of the Escrowed Proceeds and not paid to the Underwriters (the “Deemed Interest”), less any applicable 
withholding taxes (the “Termination Payment”). See “Description of Securities being Distributed – Subscription 
Receipts – Terms of Subscription Receipts”. 

The Common Shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (the “TSX-V”) under the symbol “HEO”. The 
Common Shares are also traded on the NYSE Euronext Growth Paris under the symbol “ALHEO” and on the OTCQX 
marketplace in the United States under the symbol “HEOFF”. On November 5, 2019, the last trading day of the 
Common Shares on the TSX-V before the date hereof, the closing price of the Common Shares was $1.07. The TSX-
V has conditionally approved the listing of the Unit Shares, the Warrants and the Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to 
the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, as well as the Broker Shares. Listing of the Unit Shares, the 
Warrants and the Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, as well as 
the Broker Shares, is subject to the Corporation fulfilling all the listing requirements of the TSX-V. Closings of the 
Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement are subject to receipt of the prior approval of the Offering and the 
Concurrent Private Placement by the TSX-V and other usual closing conditions. 

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Initial Subscription Receipts on behalf of the Corporation, 
subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by the Corporation and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with 
the conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution” and subject to 
approval of certain legal matters relating to the Offering on behalf of the Corporation by McCarthy Tétrault LLP, and 
on behalf of the Underwriters by Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP.  

The Underwriters propose to offer the Initial Subscription Receipts initially at the Offering Price. After the 
Underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Initial Subscription Receipts at the Offering Price, 
the Offering Price may be decreased and may be further changed from time to time to an amount not greater 
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than the Offering Price, and the compensation realized by the Underwriters in respect of the Initial 
Subscription Receipts will be decreased by the amount that the aggregate price paid by purchasers for the 
Initial Subscription Receipts is less than the gross proceeds paid by the Underwriters to the Corporation. 
See “Plan of Distribution”.

Subscriptions for Initial Subscription Receipts will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part 
and the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. It is expected that closing of the 
Offering will occur on or about November 14, 2019 or such other date as the Corporation and the Underwriters may 
agree upon, but in any event not later than November 15, 2019 (the “Offering Closing Date”). The Subscription 
Receipts (other than any Subscription Receipts issuable pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) shall 
be taken up by the Underwriters, if at all, on or before a date not later than November 15, 2019. 

Except in limited circumstances, it is anticipated that an electronic position representing the Subscription Receipts and 
the underlying Units will be issued, registered and deposited in electronic form with CDS Clearing and Depositary 
Services Inc. (“CDS”) or its nominee pursuant to the non-certificated inventory system. The Units will separate 
immediately into Unit Shares and Warrants upon issuance. Except in limited circumstances, no beneficial holder of 
Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case may be, will receive definitive certificates 
representing their interest in the Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case may be. 
Further, except in limited circumstances, beneficial holders of Subscription Receipts or underlying Units will receive 
only a customer confirmation from the Underwriters or other registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or 
through whom a beneficial interest in the Subscription Receipts or underlying Units is acquired. 

Subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may, in connection with the Offering, over-allot or effect transactions 
which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts at levels other than those which might 
otherwise prevail in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. See “Plan 
of Distribution”. 

In the event that the Offering Closing and the closing of the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Concurrent Private 
Placement Closing”) occur concurrently with the closing of the Acquisition (the “Acquisition Closing”), investors 
in the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement will receive Units instead of Subscription Receipts. This short 
form prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Units that may be issued if the Offering Closing occurs concurrently 
with or following the Acquisition Closing. This short form prospectus also qualifies the distribution of the Unit Shares, 
Warrants and Warrant Shares.  

Underwriters’ Position  
Maximum Size or Number 

of Securities Available 
Exercise Period or 
Acquisition Date 

Exercise Price or 
Average Acquisition 

Price 

Over-Allotment Option  952,380 Over-Allotment 
Subscription Receipts or 
Over-Allotment Units 

 No later than the 
earlier of (i) the 
30th day following the 
Offering Closing Date 
and (ii) the 
Termination Time 

 $1.05 per Over-Allotment 
Subscription Receipt or 
Over-Allotment Unit 

Broker Warrants(1)  1,096,750 Broker Warrants  18 months from the 
Financing Closing 
Date 

 $1.05 per Broker Warrant 
Share 

Notes: 

(1) This short form prospectus qualifies the grant of the Broker Warrants and the distribution of any Broker Warrant Shares issued 
pursuant to the exercise of the Broker Warrants. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

An investment in the Subscription Receipts and underlying Units involves a high degree of risk. Prospective 
investors should carefully consider the risk factors described in and/or incorporated by reference in this short 
form prospectus. See “Cautionary Statement regarding Forward-Looking Statements”, “Caution regarding 
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 
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There is currently no market through which the Subscription Receipts or Warrants may be sold and purchasers 
may not be able to resell the Subscription Receipts or Warrants underlying the Units purchased under this 
short form prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the Subscription Receipts in the secondary market, the 
transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the Subscription Receipts or Warrants, and the 
extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”.

The Subscription Receipts may only be sold in those jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. This short 
form prospectus is not an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the Subscription Receipts in any jurisdiction 
in which it is unlawful. Prospective investors should be aware that the acquisition or disposition of the Subscription 
Receipts or underlying Units described in this short form prospectus may have tax consequences in Canada or 
elsewhere, depending on each particular existing or prospective investor’s specific circumstances. 

Lisa Henthorne, Richard A. Hoel and Stephen A. Davis, members of the board of directors of the Corporation, reside 
outside of Canada and have appointed H2O Innovation Inc., 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, 
Province of Québec, Canada, G1K 9C5, as agent for service of process. DJH Accountants Limited, auditors for GHL, 
are incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction and have appointed H2O 
Innovation Inc., 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, Province of Québec, Canada, G1K 9C5, as 
agent for service of process. Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments 
obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the 
laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of 
process. 

The Corporation’s head office and registered office is located at 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, 
Province of Québec, Canada, G1K 9C5.  
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GENERAL MATTERS 

Purchasers of Subscription Receipts should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference 
into this short form prospectus. The Corporation has not authorized anyone to provide purchasers with different or 
additional information. If anyone provides purchasers with different or additional information, purchasers should not 
rely on it. Neither the Corporation nor the Underwriters are making an offer to sell or seeking an offer to buy the 
Subscription Receipts in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. Purchasers should assume that the 
information contained in this short form prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front page of this document 
and that information contained in any document incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date of that 
document, regardless of the time of delivery of this short form prospectus or of any sale of the Subscription Receipts. 
The Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those 
dates. 

The Corporation holds, directly or through its subsidiaries, registered and non-registered trademarks, including, but 
not limited to the following: Bio-BraneTM, Bio-WheelTM, SILOTM, Clearlogx®, FiberFlexTM, flexMBRTM, H2O-
SmartrekTM, High BrixTM, IntelogxTM, OptiCleanTM, Piedmont® and PWTTM. To facilitate the reading of this short 
form prospectus, the symbols ® and “TM”, referring to trademarks, have been removed. 

The corporate website of the Corporation is www.h2oinnovation.com. The information on the Corporation’s 
website is not intended to be included or incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus and 
prospective purchasers should not rely on such information when deciding whether or not to invest in the 
Subscription Receipts. 

Data relating to market and industry forecasts presented in this short form prospectus are derived from various publicly 
available sources. Although the Corporation believes that these independent sources are generally reliable, the 
accuracy and completeness of the information from such sources are not guaranteed and have not been independently 
verified. 

CURRENCY PRESENTATION AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION 

This short form prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain references to the Canadian 
dollar, the United States dollar and the British pound. Unless otherwise indicated in this short form prospectus and the 
documents incorporated by reference herein, all references to “$”, “C$”, “CAD”, “CAN$” or “dollars” refer to 
Canadian dollars, all references to to “£” or “GBP” refer to British pounds. 

The Corporation’s financial statements that are incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus are presented 
in Canadian dollars. 

The following table sets forth, for each of the years indicated, the high and low exchange rates, the daily average 
exchange rate and the daily period end exchange rate of one British pound for each Canadian dollar as reported by the 
Bank of Canada. 

Twelve Months ended June 30  Six Months ended June 30  Twelve Months ended 
December 31 

2019 2019 2018 2018 2017 

$ $ $ $ $ 

High 1.7743 1.7743 1.8371 1.8371 1.7767 

Low 1.6624 1.6624 1.6822 1.6633 1.5865 

Average 1.7135 1.7256 1.7582 1.7299 1.6720 

Period End 1.6624 1.6624 1.7357 1.7439 1.6961 
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Unless otherwise provided herein, all Canadian dollar ($) equivalent amounts expressed herein that are based on 
British Pounds (£) are based on a conversion rate of £1 = $1.6753, which represents the daily exchange rate of the 
Bank of Canada on the day prior to the announcement of the Acquisition. 

In this short form prospectus, unless otherwise noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements contained in this short form prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein may 
constitute “forward-looking” statements and forward-looking information (collectively, “forward-looking 
statements”) which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual 
results, performance or achievements of the Corporation, or industry results, to be materially different from any 
anticipated or future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
When used in this short form prospectus, such statements reflect current expectations regarding future events and 
operating performance and speak only as of the date of this short form prospectus. Forward-looking statements may 
use such words as “will”, “may”, “could”, “intends”, “potential”, “plans”, “believes”, “expects”, “projects”, 
“estimates”, “anticipates”, “continue”, “potential”, “predicts” or “should” and other similar terminology. Such 
forward-looking statements may also include observations concerning the Corporation’s or Genesys’ anticipated or 
future financial results and business outlooks and the economies in which they operate. In particular, this short form 
prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements with respect to, 
among other things, business objectives, expected growth, results of operations, performance, business projects and 
opportunities and financial results. 

This short form prospectus may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Canadian securities laws. 
Such statements include, but are not limited to: 

 the completion and timing of the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement and the Acquisition; 

 the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition for H2O Innovation, including the attractiveness of the Acquisition 
from a financial perspective through a variety of financial metrics, and H2O Innovation’s ability to 
successfully integrate Genesys’ business; 

 H2O Innovation’s and Genesys’ expected financial performance; 

 the realization and timing of any potential cost synergies; 

 the expectation that the Acquisition would be immediately accretive to H2O Innovation on Adjusted EBITDA 
(as defined below) and net earnings before acquisition costs;  

 the financing of the Acquisition, including the new Term Loan (as defined below) under the Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement (as defined below) and the success of the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement, including the manner in which those transactions will be financed, the expected sources and uses 
of funds and the anticipated timing of when those financings will be completed; 

 the absence of existing market for the Subscription Receipts and Warrants and the fluctuation of the prices 
of the Subscription Receipts and of the underlying securities issuable pursuant to the terms of the Subscription 
Receipts; 

 the expectation that H2O Innovation will leverage its manufacturing, warehousing and freighting costs 
following the Acquisition with respect to its PWT business line (as described below); 

 the expectation that H2O Innovation will develop and maintain one of the largest distribution networks 
worldwide for specialty chemicals, by covering both emergent and strategic markets, with a broad offering 
of specialty chemicals with the strengths of both phosphonate and dendrimer chemistry; 

 the potential attrition coming from overlapping of certain distributors throughout the world; 

 the unknown consequences of a potential Brexit and the impact of the currency (GBP); and  

 the level of estimated expenses to be incurred for the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement and the 
Acquisition. 
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The forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause 
actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Such statements 
reflect the Corporation’s current views with respect to future events based on certain material facts and assumptions 
and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including without limitation: (i) competitive environment; 
(ii) operating risks; (iii) reported performance obligations; (iv) fixed price contracts renewal; (v) key personnel and 
health & safety; (vi) acquisition and expansion; (vii) indebtedness; (viii) impairment; (ix) international operations, 
global geopolitical climate and foreign exchange risks; (x) liquidity; (xi) capacity to secure performance guarantees; 
(xii) implementation of a strategic plan; (xiii) current global financial conditions; (xiv) cybersecurity and cyber 
threats; (xv) litigation; (xvi) intellectual property infringement; (xvii) dependence on third parties; (xviii) credit risk; 
(xix) market liquidity; (xx) capital investment; (xxi) development of new products; (xxii) additional financing and 
dilution; (xxiii) interest rate risk; (xxiv) insurance coverage risk; (xxv) technological changes; (xxvi) reputation and 
regulatory risk; and (xxvii) transfer pricing. 

The forward-looking statements are based on certain key expectations and assumptions made by the Corporation, 
including expectations and assumptions concerning availability of capital resources, performance of operating 
facilities, financial performance of H2O Innovation and all its business pillars, strength of market conditions, customer 
demand, satisfaction of all conditions of closing of the Acquisition, obtaining consents required under agreements 
with third parties, and the timing and receipt of regulatory approvals with respect to the Offering. Although the 
Corporation believes that the expectations and assumptions on which such forward-looking statements are based are 
reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements since no assurance can be given 
that these expectations and assumptions will prove to be correct. 

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the assumptions set out in the section 
entitled “Risk Factors” underlying those forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results may vary 
materially from those described herein. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this short form 
prospectus or, in the case of documents incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus, as of the date of such 
documents, and the Corporation does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update these forward-looking 
statements, except as required by law. There is no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate as actual 
results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Purchasers are cautioned 
that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and accordingly purchasers are cautioned 
not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein. New factors emerge 
from time to time, and it is not possible for management of the Corporation to predict all of these factors or to assess 
in advance the impact of each such factor on the Corporation’s business or the extent to which any factor, or 
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking 
statement. 

Certain of the forward-looking statements included in this short form prospectus may be considered “financial 
outlook” for purposes of applicable Canadian provincial and territorial securities laws. Financial outlook information 
contained in this short form prospectus about prospective results of operations, financial position or cash flows is 
based on assumptions about future events, including economic conditions and proposed courses of action, based on 
management’s assessment of the relevant information available as of the date of this presentation, which management 
believes has been presented on a reasonable basis. Readers are cautioned that such financial outlook information 
contained in this short form prospectus should not be used for the purposes other than for which it is disclosed herein 
or therein, as the case may be. 

The forward-looking statements contained in this short form prospectus are expressly qualified by the 
foregoing cautionary statements and are made as of the date of this short form prospectus. The Corporation 
does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, except as 
required by applicable securities laws. Purchasers should read this short form prospectus and consult their 
own professional advisors to assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other aspects of their investment in 
the Subscription Receipts. 

CAUTION REGARDING UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This short form prospectus contains the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of the Corporation 
comprised of the unaudited consolidated pro forma statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019, the unaudited 
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consolidated pro forma statement of (loss) income for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019 and the earnings 
(loss) per share for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019, giving effect to: (i) the Offering, assuming no 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option; (ii) the Concurrent Private Placements, (iii) the Term Loan, (iv) the issuance 
of Units upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts; and (iv) the completion of the Acquisition. Such unaudited 
pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared using certain of H2O Innovation’s and Genesys’ 
respective historical financial statements as more particularly described in the notes to such unaudited pro forma 
consolidated financial statements. In preparing such unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements, H2O 
Innovation’s has not independently verified the financial statements of Genesys that were used to prepare the 
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements. Such unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements 
are not intended to be indicative of the results that would actually have occurred, or the results expected in future 
periods, had the events reflected herein occurred on the dates indicated. Actual amounts recorded upon the finalization 
of the allocation of the purchase price under the Acquisition may differ from the amounts reflected in such unaudited 
pro forma consolidated financial statements. Since the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have 
been developed to retroactively show the effect of a transaction that has or is expected to occur at a later date (even 
though this was accomplished by following generally accepted practice using reasonable assumptions), there are 
limitations inherent in the very nature of pro forma data. The data contained in the unaudited pro forma consolidated 
financial statements represents only a simulation of the potential financial impact of H2O Innovation’s acquisition of 
Genesys. Undue reliance should not be placed on such unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements. 
See “Cautionary Statement regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”.  

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES 

The Corporation’s Annual Financial Statements that are incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Corporation uses both 
IFRS and certain non-IFRS measures to assess performance. Non-IFRS measures do not have any standardized 
meaning prescribed by IFRS and are unlikely to be comparable to any similar measures presented by other companies. 
Non-IFRS measurements, as presented herein, include adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), earnings before administrative costs (“EBAC”), net debt, and recurring 
revenue. The Corporation refers the reader to the “Non-IFRS Financial Measurement” section of the Annual MD&A, 
which is available under the Corporation’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, for the definition, historical 
reconciliation to the most comparable IFRS measure, where such a measure exists, and a description of the usefulness 
of each measure as it relates to the Corporation’s business. 

Genesys’ consolidated financial statements that are included in this short form prospectus have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. The information contained in this short form prospectus and related to Genesys and the 
combined entity resulting from the Acquisition includes the following non-IFRS measure:  

- Genesys’ EBAC (“Genesys’ EBAC”) is defined as revenue plus other operating income, less cost of sales 
and administrative expenses. The administrative expenses are considered as operating expenses for purposes 
of calculating Genesys’ EBAC.  

- Genesys’ adjusted EBITDA (“Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA”) is defined as profit before net finance costs, 
income taxes, amounts written off investments, divestiture costs and founding management salaries for the 
twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019 (see note 2 to the pro forma consolidated statements of the 
Corporation included in this short form prospectus for a description of the construction of the unaudited 
consolidated statement of income of Genesys for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019). The 
amortization and depreciation of Genesys in its consolidated financial statements is nil, therefore no 
adjustments were made to Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA in that regard.  

Please find below the reconciliation of certain non-IFRS measures used by the Corporation and Genesys. For more 
details on the applicable exchange rates to the reconciliations outlined below, please refer to the section entitled 
“Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information”.  
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Reconciliation to H2O Innovation’s and Genesys’ EBAC 

In millions of £ / $ H2O Innovation Inc. Genesys 

For the year ended 
June 30, 2019 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2017 

For the year 
ended December 

31, 2018 

For the twelve-
month period ended 

June 30, 2019 

$ £ $ £ $ £ $ 

Revenue 117.96 6.05 10.12 6.01 10.40 6.18 10.59 

Cost of Goods Sold (90.84) (2.62) (4.38) (2.60) (4.50) (2.79) (4.77) 

Gross Margin 27.12 3.43 5.74 3.41 5.90 3.39 5.82 

Other Operating 
Income 

- 0.06 0.10 0.16 0.27 0.04 0.08 

Operating Expenses(1) (5.69) (1.70) (2.85) (1.76) (3.04) (1.71) (2.93) 

Selling Expenses (7.74) - - - - - - 

EBAC 13.69 1.79 2.99 1.81 3.13 1.72 2.97 

EBAC as % of total 
revenue 

11.6% 29.6% 29.6% 30.1% 30.1% 28.0% 28.0% 

Note: 

(1) For the purpose of the calculation of Genesys’ EBAC, the administrative expenses in the financial statements have been included in the 
operating expenses.  

Reconciliation to Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA: 

In millions of £ / $ For the year ended 
December 31, 2017 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2018 

For the six-month 
period ended 
June 30, 2019  

For the twelve-
month period ended 

June 30, 2019 

£ $ £ $ £ $ £ $ 

Profit for the period 1.36 2.28 1.30  2.24  0.76 1.31 1.48 2.54 

Income tax expenses 0.27 0.45 0.29 0.50 0.14 0.25 0.28 0.48 

Investment revenue (0.08) (0.13) (0.03) (0.05) - - (0.03) (0.05) 

Amounts written off 
investments 

0.24 0.40 0.25 0.44 - - - - 

Professional fees 
and related costs to 
divestiture(1)

0.04 0.07 0.12 0.20 0.03 0.04 0.09 0.15 

Founding 
management 
salaries(2)

0.01 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.02 

Adjusted EBITDA 1.84 3.09 1.94 3.35 0.94 1.61 1.83 3.14 

Note: 

(1) This adjustment relates to the professional fees and related expenses incurred by Genesys for divestiture.  

(2) This relates to the salaries of the two founding executives that will resigned as at the Acquisition date. 
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Reconciliation to pro forma Adjusted EBITDA and net earnings (net loss) of H2O Innovation for the twelve-month 
period ended June 30, 2019 

Adjusted 
EBITDA 

Net Earnings 
(Net Loss) 

H2O Innovation  $7.21 M ($2.18 M) 

Genesys $3.14 M $2.54 M 

Pro Forma Adjustments - ($1.24 M) 

Pro Forma of H2O Innovation $10.35 M ($0.88 M) 

Reconciliation to pro forma net debt of H2O Innovation as at June 30, 2019 

H2O Innovation: 

Current portion of long-term debt $1.86 M 

Long-term debt $6.58 M 

Bank loan $7.55 M 

(Less cash) ($6.21 M)  

Net debt $9.78 M 

Pro Forma Adjustments: 

Term Loan $12.00 M 

Financing costs ($0.27 M) 

Reduction of H2O Innovation’s outstanding 
indebtedness 

($2.74 M) 

Total adjustments $8.99 M 

Pro Forma Net Debt $18.77 M 

Reconciliation to pro forma recurring revenue of H2O Innovation for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019 

H2O Innovation uses recurring revenue as a key performance indicator. Recurring revenue are defined as the portion 
of the Corporation’s revenue coming from customers with whom the Corporation has established a long-term 
relationship and/or has a recurring sales pattern. H2O Innovation considers 75.9% of its revenues as recurring revenue. 
Based on the quality of earnings and due diligence conducted in connection with the Acquisition, H2O Innovation has 
determined that more than 90% of Genesys revenue qualifies as recurring revenue. The pro forma recurring revenue 
provided in this short form prospectus has been calculated by summing the Corporation and Genesys’ percentage of 
recurring revenues multiplied by total revenue. The pro forma percentage of recurring revenue has been calculated by 
dividing the recurring revenue by total revenue of the pro forma financial statements.  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Information has been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus from documents filed with 
securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference 
may be obtained on request without charge from the Secretary of the Corporation at 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, 
Suite 340, Québec City, Province of Québec, Canada, G1K 9C5 (telephone (418) 688-0170), and are also available 
electronically at www.sedar.com.  

The following documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in each of the provinces of 
Canada are specifically incorporated by reference in and form an integral part of this short form prospectus:
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(i) the annual information form of the Corporation dated September 24, 2019 for the year ended June 30, 2019 
(the “AIF”); 

(ii) the audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and the notes thereto for the years 
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, together with the auditor’s report thereon (the “Annual Financial 
Statements”); 

(iii) management’s discussion and analysis on the financial position and operating results of the Corporation for 
the year ended June 30, 2019 (the “Annual MD&A”) as refiled on SEDAR on October 17, 2019; 

(iv) the management information circular dated September 24, 2019 relating to the annual general meeting of 
shareholders of the Corporation to be held on November 13, 2019;  

(v) the “template version” (as such term is defined in National Instrument 44-101 – Short Form Prospectus 
Distributions (“NI 44-101”)) of the term sheet for the Offering dated and filed October 28, 2019 and as 
amended and refiled on October 29, 2019 (the “Term Sheet”);  

(vi) the “template version” (as such term is defined in NI 44-101) of H2O Innovation’s investor presentation dated 
and filed October 28, 2019 and as amended and refiled on October 29, 2019 (the “Initial Investor 
Presentations”) and as further amended on November 6, 2019 utilized in connection with the Offering 
(“Revised Investor Presentation” and, together with the Term Sheet and the Initial Investor Presentations, 
the “Offering Marketing Materials”); and 

(vii) the material change report of the Corporation dated November 6, 2019 with respect to the Acquisition and 
the Offerings.  

Any documents of the Corporation of the type referred to in the preceding paragraph and any material change 
reports (excluding any confidential material change reports) filed by the Corporation with a securities 
commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada on or after the date of this short form prospectus and 
prior to the termination of the Offering shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this short form 
prospectus. 

Any statement contained in this short form prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by 
reference in this short form prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this short form 
prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is 
or is deemed to be incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus modifies or supersedes such statement. The 
modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any 
other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. Any statement so modified or superseded 
shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this short form prospectus, except as so modified or superseded.  

MARKETING MATERIALS 

The Offering Marketing Materials do not form part of this short form prospectus to the extent that the contents thereof 
have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in this short form prospectus. Any other “template version” 
of “marketing materials” (as such terms are defined in National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus 
Requirements) will be incorporated by reference in the final short form prospectus. However, such template version 
of marketing material, including the Offering Marketing Materials, will not form part of the final short form prospectus 
to the extent that its contents are modified or superseded by a statement contained in the final short form prospectus.  

Any template version of the marketing materials filed by the Corporation with a securities commission or other similar 
authority in Canada after the date of the final short form prospectus and before the termination of the distribution of 
the Subscription Receipts will be deemed to be incorporated by reference into the final short form prospectus. 

On October 29, 2019, the Corporation filed amended versions of the Initial Investor Presentations and Term Sheet, 
for which the only modification is with respect to the terms of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, 
which have been finalized and included in the Initial Investor Presentations and Term Sheet.  

Together with this Prospectus, the Corporation filed the Revised Investor Presentation, which includes the following 
modifications: 
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 under the heading “Disclaimer – No Reliance”, we clarified that the declarations in the non-reliance 
disclaimer contained in this Revised Investor Presentation is subject to applicable securities laws on slide 3 
of the Revised Investor Presentation;  

 we added the definition of Genesys’ EBAC under the heading “Financial Matters – Non-IFRS 
Measurements” on slide 6 of the Revised Investor Presentation;  

 we added the net earnings of Genesys for the same periods as the periods for which Genesys’ revenue and 
adjusted EBITDA have been presented under the heading “Genesys Financial Overview” on slide 8 of the 
Revised Investor Presentation;  

 we reviewed the percentages of revenue per geographic regions presented under the heading “Large & 
Complementary Distribution Network of Specialty Chemicals with Local Presence” on slide 11 of the 
Revised Investor Presentation to reflect the incorporation of the revenue made by Genesys North America, 
LLC which were not consolidated with the revenue of Genesys in the Initial Investor Presentation; 

 we added EBAC and net earnings (net loss) figures to the information presented under the heading “Pro 
Forma Financial Results” on slide 14 of the Revised Investor Presentation; 

 we added EBAC per segment figures under the heading “Pro Forma Financial Results (Continued)” on slide 
15 of the Revised Investor Presentation; 

 we revised Genesys’ gross profit and gross profit contribution per segment from 55% to 54.9% and $5.9 M 
to $5.8 M, respectively, and have revised the pro forma gross profit contribution per segment from $33.0 M 
to $32.9 M under the heading “Pro Forma Financial Results (Continued)” on slide 16 of the Revised Investor 
Presentation; and 

 we added EBAC, adjusted EBITDA of Genesys and adjusted EBITDA of H2O reconciliations to the nearest 
IFRS measures in the appendix section on slides to 22 to 24 of the Revised Investor Presentation.  

Pursuant to Section 7.6(7) of NI 44-101, the Corporation has prepared revised template versions of the Offering 
Marketing Materials, which have been blacklined to reflect the final terms of the Offering and Concurrent Private 
Placement and other required language pursuant to applicable securities laws. The above description of the 
modifications made to the Offering Marketing Materials is qualified by the information contained in the amended and 
refiled versions of the Offering Marketing Materials and the blacklined versions of such documents which have been 
filed with the securities regulatory authorities of each of the provinces of Canada and can be viewed under the 
Corporation's SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com. The amended and refiled versions of the Offering Marketing 
Materials have also been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus. 

THE CORPORATION 

Name and Incorporation 

The Corporation was formed under the name “Hebron Fjord Resources Inc.” by Articles of Amalgamation under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act on August 23, 1995, as a result of the amalgamation of Chastel Resources Inc. 
and 3152383 Canada Inc. On December 1, 2000 and on December 4, 2008, the Corporation changed its corporate 
name to “H2O Innovation (2000) Inc.” and to “H2O Innovation Inc.”, respectively. The Corporation’s registered office 
is located at 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Quebec City, Province of Quebec, G1K 9C5, Canada. For more 
information on H2O Innovation’s corporate structure and organizational chart, please refer to the AIF of the 
Corporation available on the Corporation’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com. On September 30, 2019, the 
Corporation established H2O UK, a wholly-owned subsidiary, in anticipation of the Acquisition.  
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Business of the Corporation 

As a complete solution provider, H2O Innovation designs, manufactures and commissions customized membrane 
water treatment systems and provides operation and maintenance services as well as a complete line of specialty 
products such as chemicals, consumables, couplings, fittings and cartridge filters for multiple markets. The 
Corporation also designs, manufactures and implements digital solutions such as its Intelogx software, its Clearlogx 
automation and control technology and SCADA systems. In addition, H2O Innovation provides a full range of maple 
equipment and products to maple syrup producers. 

Whether for the production of drinking water and industrial process water, the reclamation and reuse of water, the 
desalination of seawater and/or the treatment of wastewater, the solutions provided by H2O Innovation intend to 
combine the best available expertise with the most advanced membrane technology and products. The Corporation’s 
reliable, state-of-the-art, eco-friendly solutions are customer-focused and intended to streamline end-user costs, 
optimize the water treatment process, and maximize the efficiency, performance and longevity of water and 
wastewater treatment utilities including treatment systems, distribution equipment and associated assets. 

Through its PWT business line, the Corporation synthesizes its own polymer, manufactures a unique product line of 
sustainable specialty chemicals for membrane pre-treatment applications (antiscalants), and develops specific blends 
for maintenance, preservation, and cleaning of membrane systems that maximize the operating efficiency, economy, 
performance, and longevity of reverse osmosis systems. PWT operates with a modern laboratory and automated 
production methods certifying the quality of shipped products from its manufacturing plant in Vista, California. The 
Corporation also offers membrane autopsy service to help detect intricate problems. Consequently, the Corporation 
can easily recommend the required protocols in order to expand a membrane useful life. 

As shown in the picture below, the customers, such as water utilities, are at the center of H2O Innovation’s offer. 
Through its integrated solutions combining membrane filtration expertise, specialty products and operation and 
maintenance, H2O Innovation is well positioned to address the needs that a customer may have and to maximize 
customer retention. With its current business model, and across all its business pillars, H2O Innovation provides an 
end-to-end solution to its customers.  

H2O Innovation’s vision is to be the best at providing safe and reliable water treatment solutions and technologies and 
its mission is to provide safe and integrated water treatment solutions as well as outstanding customer care in order to 
secure long-term relationships.  
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THE ACQUISITION 

Acquisition Overview 

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, H2O Innovation, through its newly-created wholly owned UK subsidiary, H2O 
UK, has agreed to purchase all the issued and outstanding shares of the Targets from the Vendors. The Acquisition is 
expected to close on or about November 14, 2019. The obligations of H2O UK under the Acquisition Agreement are 
guaranteed by the Corporation. 

There has been no valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months by Genesys or the Corporation that is required 
by securities legislation or a Canadian exchange or market to support the consideration paid by the Corporation for 
the Acquisition. The Acquisition is not entered into with an informed person, associate or affiliate of the Corporation. 

Information on Genesys 

The Targets are a group of privately-owned companies founded in 2001 based in the United Kingdom that develop, 
manufacture and distribute speciality reverse osmosis (RO) membrane chemicals, antiscalants, cleaners, flocculants 
and biocides (the “Genesys Business”). Genesys operates in two main segments: antiscalants, which accounts for 
72.2% of Genesys Business and cleaners and biocides, which accounts for 21.9% of Genesys Business. Other 
segments account for 5.9% of Genesys Business. Genesys offers, through a large distribution network of nearly 
80 distributors and technical sales professionals, a portfolio of over 35 diversified products with various applications 
including mining, unique formulation and proven chemistry, which products are manufactured in its 15,000 square 
foot manufacturing facility located in Cheshire, UK. Genesys also offers complete laboratory services such as feed 
water and pre-treatment tests, membrane autopsies and cleaning program design. Genesys employs 18 people.  

Genesys Business 

The specialty chemicals manufactured by Genesys are used in the operations of membrane plants, which are applied 
in different processes related to water treatment such as desalination, water reuse, surface water filtration & process 
water demineralization. The majority of the chemicals are used to prevent scaling or fouling on the membrane’s 
surface. Genesys also develops and manufactures cleaners that are used to recover the membranes’ performance after 
some time in normal operations. 

Antiscalants, fouling inhibitors and membrane cleaners together constitute various products required for the operation 
and maintenance of membranes plants. To effectively select the required chemicals, Genesys must understand the 
chemistry of the water treated with the membranes. Different water chemistries will lead to different chemical 
recommendations both for continuous scale and fouling inhibitors dosing and for intermittent cleaners’ usage in order 
to properly predict the right product and the right dosage. A simulation software using water chemistry parameters is 
used by Genesys as well as some technical services such as membrane autopsies and laboratory scale cleaning studies. 
Genesys also owns several patents and trademarks for its products. 

Genesys Business operates via a distributor network present in approximately 70 countries. Distributors are used both 
to import and resell the products to end-users in their assigned territory. The distribution network is key to Genesys 
Business as distributors play a vital role in the technical support of the end-users. Genesys maintains long standing 
relationships with its large customer base of 67 distributors and boasts over 90% recurring revenue. The determination 
of recurring revenue is based on due diligence and quality of earnings. In turn, distributors rely on Genesys’ innovative 
scaling prediction software and associated technical services to earn technical credibility with their customers (end-
users).  

Genesys Business competes with large commodity chemicals suppliers which sell directly to the customers and offer 
all the associated technical services. Such competitors include SUEZ WTS USA, Inc., Nalco Company, Kurita, 
Kemira Water Solutions Inc., BASF SE and Italmatch Chemicals S.p.A. Some smaller companies are also solely 
focused on membrane specialty chemicals and use a similar distribution model to Genesys’.  
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The Corporation has assessed the value of Genesys’ manufacturing facility to approximately £1.0 million ($1,7 
million) and the value of Genesys current inventory to approximately £0.3 million ($0.5 million). Genesys’ key 
financial results are outlined below. 

Note: Reference to Genesys’ revenue, Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA and Genesys’ net earnings for June 2019 LTM is to Genesys’ revenue, Genesys’ 
Adjusted EBITDA and Genesys’ net earnings for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019. See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for a 
reconciliation of Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA and see “Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information” for the exchange rates applicable 
to such figures. 

The Combined Business 

The Acquisition will strengthen H2O Innovation’s specialty chemicals line of products. As illustrated on the graph 
below, the distribution network, supported by an experienced team with regional presence, will become one of the 
largest networks worldwide for those kinds of specialty chemicals, by covering both emergent and strategic markets. 
Such combined network will account for approximately 100 distributors worldwide. Once the Acquisition has been 
completed, management anticipates that Genesys combined with H2O Innovation’s PWT business line will create a 
new major supplier of specialty chemicals for membrane treatment plants. 

On a combined basis, the Acquisition is expected to enable H2O Innovation to grow its specialty chemicals portfolio 
by adding products with proven chemical formulation and by allowing the development of new products. In addition, 
the Acquisition is expected to allow the Corporation to leverage its manufacturing, warehousing and freighting costs, 
to reduce delivery time and to adapt export strategy to reduce exposure to commercial tariffs. Genesys’ chemical 
blending facility located in the United Kingdom will complement the existing manufacturing capabilities of H2O 
Innovation located in Vista, California. 
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Large & Complementary Distribution Network of Specialty Chemicals with Local Presence 

Note: Figures represent percentage of revenue based on the Corporation’s year-end results for the year ended June 30, 2019 and Genesys’ results 
for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019. 

Management expects the Acquisition will be immediately accretive to Adjusted EBITDA and net earnings before 
acquisition costs as Genesys’ revenue and its profitability are recurring in nature. Management projects synergies of 
£0.4 million ($0.7 million) based on cost and revenue synergies within 18 months. Such cost and revenue synergies 
are based on management’s expectations of increasing its gross profit margin with (a) manufacturing cost synergies 
based on the use of Genesys’ manufacturing facility to reduce USA/China tariffs on PWT chemicals and by 
manufacturing cleaners for the European market in the United Kingdom at a more affordable cost and (b) selling, 
general and administration cost synergies based on the costs saving due the combination of trade shows and distributor 
conferences and the integration of support functions such as IT management, marketing, and accounting services. 
Management also expects to have future revenue growth driven by (a) the sales growth of a specialized product for 
mining applications using H2O Innovation’s strong customer base in North America, (b) leveraging potential cross-
selling opportunities with existing H2O Innovation PWT customers and products, (c) leveraging Piedmont’s 
relationships with the mega desalination SWRO plants to drive sales of new specialty chemicals and (d) the conversion 
of phosphonate chemical (conventional) sales into PWT dendrimer sales (as previously done over the four year period 
following the acquisition of Itasca). Selected pro forma information of H2O Innovation following the Acquisition is 
below. Please refer to the pro forma consolidated financial statements of the Corporation together with the notes 
thereto included in this short form prospectus and to the sections entitled “Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate 
Information” and “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for more information.  
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Note:  
(1) Genesys financials are based on the last twelve months (LTM) as of June 30, 2019 and have been converted using the daily average 

exchange rate for the  twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019. See “Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information” and 
“Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 

(2) Pro forma financials are based on the Corporation’s financial information for the year ended June 30, 2019 and Genesys’ financial 
information for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019. See “Caution regarding Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial 
Statements”. 

(3) See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 

(4) Assuming a new term loan of $12.0 M, excess cash of $2.7 M, a purchase price of $28.4 M and offering of $22.0 M excluding the over-
allotment option. 

(5) See notes to the pro forma financial statements of H2O Innovation included in this short form prospectus for the adjustments to the pro 
forma net earnings (net loss).  

Note:  
(1) Genesys financials are based on the last twelve months (LTM) as of June 30, 2019 and have been converted using the daily average 

exchange rate for the  twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019. See “Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information” and 
“Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 

(2) Pro forma financials are based on the Corporation’s financial information for the year ended June 30, 2019 and Genesys’ financial 
information for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019. See “Caution regarding Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial 
Statements”. 

(3) See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 
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Note:  

(1) Genesys financials are based on the last twelve months (LTM) as of June 30, 2019 and have been converted using the daily average 
exchange rate for the  twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019. See “Currency Presentation and Exchange Rate Information” and 
“Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. 

(2) Pro forma financials are based on the Corporation’s financial information for the year ended June 30, 2019 and Genesys’ financial 
information for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019. See “Caution regarding Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial 
Statements”. 

(3) Gross profit before depreciation and amortization.  

Summary of the Acquisition Agreement 

The following is a summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Acquisition Agreement. This summary does 
not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms of the Acquisition 
Agreement, which was filed by the Corporation on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Consideration 

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the aggregate Purchase Price payable by the Corporation is 
£16,947,000 ($28,391,309), subject to adjustment after the closing date of the Acquisition (“Acquisition Closing 
Date”). Subject to such adjustments, the Purchase Price will be paid in full on the Acquisition Closing Date. Within 
thirty (30) business days following the Acquisition Closing Date, the Vendors will prepare or cause to be prepared 
Closing Accounts (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) of the Targets effective immediately prior to the 
Acquisition Closing Date. The Acquisition Purchase Price shall be adjusted using usual working capital adjustment 
mechanisms.  

Warranties of the Vendors 

The Acquisition Agreement contains a number of customary warranties of the Vendors with respect to the Targets in 
which they hold equity interests, relating to, among other things: organization, standing, qualification and power; 
capitalisation; absence of conflicts; financial statements; title to assets; absence of certain changes and events; accounts 
receivable; compliance with laws, legal proceedings; employees; pensions; benefit plans; real property; personal 
property; intellectual property; privacy; cybersecurity; taxes; material contracts; customers and suppliers; anti-
corruption; related party interests; insurance; environmental matters; warranty claims; and brokers. 

Warranties of the Corporation 

The Acquisition Agreement contains a number of customary warranties of H2O UK and the Corporation, relating to, 
among other things: organization and authority; no conflicts; insolvency and bankruptcy; and brokers. 
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Other Covenants 

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendors and H2O UK have agreed to certain covenants, including 
customary covenants relating to the operation of the business of the Targets in the interim period between the date of 
execution of the Acquisition Agreement (the “Effective Date”) and the Acquisition Closing Date. 

Conditions Precedent to the Acquisition Closing 

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions as set forth in the Acquisition Agreement 
including the accuracy of warranties as at the Effective Date, the closing of the Offering and Concurrent Private 
Placement for gross proceeds of at least $22 million, the performance of covenants and the execution of the Ancillary 
Agreements (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement), which include the entry into non-competition and non-
solicitation agreements with the two main Vendors for a period of three years and the entry, by each of the managing 
director, the production manager and the sales manager of certain of the Targets, into employment agreements.  

Liability and Limitation of Liability 

Each of the Vendors shall be liable to the Buyers (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) in respect of claims 
brought by the Buyers for a breach of the Warranties (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) given by the Vendors 
under the Acquisition Agreement. Liability of the Vendors shall survive for eighteen months following the Acquisition 
Closing Date in respect of all Warranties excepting the Fundamental Warranties (as defined in the Acquisition 
Agreement), six years following the Acquisition Closing Date for the Fundamental Warranties and seven years 
following the Acquisition Closing Date for the Tax Warranties (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement). 

The Acquisition Agreement provides for a deductible amount of £170,000 ($284,801) with respect to any losses and 
in no event shall the aggregate liability of the Vendors exceed, in the aggregate, £11,015,550 ($18,454,351), except 
as expressly provided in the Acquisition Agreement. 

Termination of the Acquisition Agreement 

The Acquisition Agreement may be terminated by the Vendors or H2O UK by written notice to the other party should 
the conditions precedent to the closing of the Acquisition, including the completion of the Offering and Concurrent 
Private Placement for at least $22 million in gross proceeds, not be satisfied or waived prior to 60 days following 
October 28, 2019 (the “Long Stop”). In the event of the termination as provided above, the Acquisition Agreement 
shall forthwith cease to be of any further force and effect and there shall be no liability on the part of any party thereto 
except as expressly provided in the Acquisition Agreement. In the event that the Acquisition Agreement is terminated 
by the Vendors or H2O UK as a result of the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement not being completed prior to 
the Long Stop, the Corporation shall pay the Vendors a termination fee of £125,000 ($209,413). 

Financing the Acquisition 

Assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, the Corporation intends to finance the Purchaser Price of the 
Acquisition from (i) the net proceeds of the Offering (approximately $13 million); (ii) the net proceeds of the 
Concurrent Private Placement (approximately $7.6 million) and (iii) such amount needed to be drawn on the term loan 
made available in an amount of $12 million to H2O UK (the “Term Loan”) pursuant to the amended and restated 
credit agreement of the Corporation entered into on October 28, 2019 with National Bank of Canada as lender (the 
“Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”). The Term Loan shall be reimbursed by the Corporation by way of 
quarterly installment on annual amortization of 12.5 % of the principal amount. The first instalment shall be due on 
December 31, 2019. See “Use of Proceeds”. 

The Purchase Price represents 9.3 times Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019 
(£1.8 million ($3.1 million)). Considering the expected synergies of £0.4 million ($0.7 million), the Purchase Price is 
equivalent to 7.6 times Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2019. The 
representation of the Purchase Price as a multiple of Genesys’ Adjusted EBITDA is based on an independent quality 
of earnings report prepared by an independent third party in respect of the Acquisition. 
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The Concurrent Private Placement 

The Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters will enter into a Subscription Agreement with each of the Private 
Placement Subscribers pursuant to each of which the Corporation will agree, among other things, to complete a private 
placement with the applicable Private Placement Subscriber concurrently with the completion of the Offering. 
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Private Placement Subscribers will agree to purchase an aggregate of 
7,647,619 Concurrent Subscription Receipts at the Private Placement Offering Price for gross proceeds to the 
Corporation of $8,030,000. The net proceeds of each Concurrent Private Placement will form part of the Escrowed 
Proceeds and be held by the Subscription Receipt Agent pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement. 

The Concurrent Subscription Receipts and the underlying Units, Unit Shares, Warrants and Warrant Shares will be 
subject to a statutory four-month and one day hold period from the Concurrent Private Placement Closing. Completion 
of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject to a number of conditions, including the approval of the TSX-V and 
concurrent closing of the Offering. The TSX-V has conditionally approved the listing of the Unit Shares, the Warrants 
and the Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, as well as the Broker 
Shares. Listing of the Unit Shares, the Warrants and the Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to the Offering and the 
Concurrent Private Placement, as well as the Broker Shares, is subject to the Corporation fulfilling all the listing 
requirements of the TSX-V.   

The Underwriters will receive an Underwriters’ Commission equal to 5% of the gross proceeds of the Concurrent 
Private Placement. 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission will be payable upon the Concurrent Private Placement 
Closing from the gross proceeds of the Concurrent Private Placement. The Remaining Underwriters’ Commission will 
be paid from the Escrowed Proceeds and will be payable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If 
a Termination Event occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the Remaining Underwriters’ 
Commission. In addition, the Corporation will issue to the Underwriters, as additional compensation, non-transferable 
Broker Warrants entitling the Underwriters to purchase a number of Broker Shares representing 5% of the total number 
of Subscription Receipts sold under the Concurrent Private Placement. Fifty percent of the Broker Warrants will be 
issuable upon the Financing Closing. The remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants will be issuable only upon 
satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to 
receive the remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants. Please refer to the section entitled “Description of Securities being 
Distributed - Broker Warrants” for the detailed terms governing the Broker Warrants. 

This short form prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Concurrent Subscription Receipts. The closing of 
the Offering is conditional upon the concurrent closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. See “Risk Factors”. 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The estimated net proceeds to be received by the Corporation, assuming the satisfaction of the Escrow Release 
Conditions, under the Offering (excluding any Earned Interest) will be approximately $12,976,663 after deducting the 
Underwriters’ Commission of $700,088 (assuming no sales are made to President’s List Purchasers) and the estimated 
expenses of the Offering of approximately $325,000. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the net 
proceeds (excluding any Earned Interest) to the Corporation from the sale of Initial Subscription Receipts, assuming 
the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, will be $13,926,662, after deducting the Underwriters’ Commission 
of $750,088 (assuming no sales are made to President’s List Purchasers) and the estimated expenses of the Offering 
of approximately $325,000. 

The estimated net proceeds to be received by the Corporation, assuming the satisfaction of the Escrow Release 
Conditions, under the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement (excluding any Earned Interest) will be 
approximately $20,605,162 after deducting the Underwriters’ Commission of $1,101,588 (assuming no sales are made 
to President’s List Purchasers) and the estimated expenses of the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement of 
approximately $325,000. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the net proceeds (excluding any Earned 
Interest) to the Corporation from the sale of Subscription Receipts, assuming the satisfaction of the Escrow Release 
Conditions, will be $21,555,162, after deducting the Underwriters’ Commission of $1,151,588 (assuming no sales are 
made to President’s List Purchasers) and the estimated expenses of the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement of 
approximately $325,000.  
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Immediately following the Financing Closing, the Escrowed Proceeds will be delivered to and held by the Subscription 
Receipt Agent, as agent and bailee, on behalf of the holders of the Subscription Receipts and invested in short term 
obligations of, or guaranteed by, the Government of Canada or Other Investments, approved in writing by the 
Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, pending the 
earlier of the delivery of the Escrow Release Condition and the Termination Time. If the Escrow Release Conditions 
are satisfied or waived prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, upon release of the Escrowed Funds by the 
Subscription Receipt Agent, the Corporation intends to use the Escrow Funds to finance a portion of the Purchase 
Price of the Acquisition. 

Provided that an Escrow Release Notice is delivered prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, the remaining 
Escrowed Funds, less any amount required to satisfy the Remaining Underwriters’ Commission, will be released by 
the Subscription Receipt Agent to the Corporation as directed by the Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters and, 
assuming the closing of the Acquisition, will be used to fund a portion of the Purchase Price of the Acquisition and 
the expenses related to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement. The Corporation intends to finance the 
Purchase Price of the Acquisition through a combination of (i) the net proceeds of the Offering; (ii) the net proceeds 
of the Concurrent Private Placement and (iii) such amount needed to be drawn on the Term Loan made available in 
an amount of $12 million pursuant to the Corporation’s Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The Corporation 
also intends to draw on the Term Loan the funds remaining after the payment of the Purchase Price to pay the expenses 
related to the Acquisition and to reduce the Corporation’s outstanding line of credit in place for working capital 
purposes. The gross proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement (excluding the payment of the 
Underwriters’ Commission) along with the drawings on the Term Loan will be allocated as follows:    

Assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option 

Sources of funds Payment of 
Purchase Price 

Payment of 
Acquisition’s 

expenses 

Payment of 
Offering and 

Concurrent Private 
Placement’s 

expenses 

Reduction of 
Corporation’s 
line of credit 

Proceeds of the Offering Approx. $13 M - Approx. $325,000 - 

Proceeds of the Concurrent 
Private Placement 

Approx. $7.6 M - - - 

Term Loan Approx. $ 7.8 M Approx. $1 M - Approx. 2.7 M 

Assuming exercise of the Over-Allotment Option 

Sources of funds Payment of 
Purchase Price 

Payment of 
Acquisition’s 

expenses 

Payment of 
Offering and 

Concurrent Private 
Placement’s 

expenses 

Reduction of 
Corporation’s 
line of credit 

Proceeds of the Offering Approx. $14 M - Approx. $325,000 - 

Proceeds of the Concurrent 
Private Placement 

Approx. $7.6 M - - - 

Term Loan Approx. $ 6.8 M Approx. $1 M - Approx. 3.7 M 

If a Termination Event occurs, the Subscription Receipt Agent will deliver to the holders of Subscription Receipts, 
commencing no later than the third business day following the Termination Time, the Termination Payment. The 
Termination Payment will be paid from the balance of the Escrowed Proceeds, together with any remaining Earned 
Interest, on the Termination Time, provided that if the balance of the Escrowed Proceeds, together with any remaining 
Earned Interest, is insufficient to cover the full amount of the Termination Payment, the Corporation will be required, 
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under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, to pay to the holders of Subscription Receipts the difference, if any, 
between the amount of Escrowed Funds, on the Termination Time and the Termination Payment due to the holders of 
Subscription Receipts. If any amount of Earned Interest on the Escrowed Proceeds remains unused after the full 
payment of the Termination Payment, it shall be paid by the Subscription Receipt Agent as directed by the Corporation 
and the Co-Lead Underwriters. See “Description of Securities being Distributed – Subscription Receipts”.

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets forth the Corporation’s consolidated capitalization as at June 30, 2019 both before and after 
giving effect to the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement, the Term Loan and the Acquisition. Other than as 
described below, there has not been any material change in the share and loan capital of the Corporation, on a 
consolidated basis, since June 30, 2019. The table below should be read together with the detailed information and 
financial statements attached to this short form prospectus and appearing in the documents incorporated by reference. 

Description As at June 30, 2019(1)

As at June 30, 2019 after giving 
effect to the Offering, the 

Concurrent Private Placement, 
the Term Loan and the 

Acquisition(1)(2)

Debt(3) $15,986 $24,981(4) (5)

Share Capital $89,057 $106,649 (6)

Reserves – Stock Option $3,250 $3,250 

Reserves- Warrants  $167 $3,181 (6) 

Deficit ($44,084) ($45,080)(7)

Accumulated other comprehensive 
income 

$2,469 $2,469 

Total shareholders’ equity $50,859 $70,469

Number of Common Shares 
outstanding 

55,889,989 76,872,608(6)

(1) In thousands of Canadian dollars, except for the number of Common Shares outstanding.  

(2) All figures presented in the pro forma consolidated capitalization as at June 30, 2019 do not give effect to the exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option.  

(3) Includes bank loans and the current portion of long-term debt and long-term debt. 

(4) On October 28, 2019, the Corporation entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement amending its current credit 
agreement to authorize the Term Loan to H2O UK in the amount of $12 million. The amount of additional indebtedness is 
$11.73 million after deducting $0.27 million of estimated financing costs. 

(5) The Corporation also intends to draw on the Term Loan the funds remaining after the payment of the Purchase Price to pay the 
expenses related to the Acquisition and to reduce the Corporation’s outstanding line of credit in place for working capital purposes 
in an amount of approximately $2.7 million. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full in Over-Allotment Subscription 
Receipts or Over-Allotment Warrants, such amount will increase to approximately $3.7 million. See “Use of Proceeds”. 

(6) Assuming conversion of the Subscription Receipts, no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and no exercise of the Warrants or 
the Broker Warrants. Based on the issuance of an aggregate of 20,982,619 Subscription Receipts under the Offering and the 
Concurrent Private Placement for aggregate gross proceeds of $22,031,750, less the Underwriters’ Commission of $1,101,587.50 
(assuming no sales are made to President’s List Purchasers) and the expenses of the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement 
estimated to be $325,000. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full in Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts or Over-
Allotment Units, and assuming conversion of the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts, but no exercise of the Warrants or Broker 
Warrants, an additional 952,380 Common Shares and 476,190 Warrants will be issued for aggregate gross proceeds of $999,999, 
the Underwriters will receive an additional Underwriters’ Commission of $49,999.95 and 47,619 Broker Warrants (assuming no 
sales are made to President’s List Purchasers) pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option.  Amounts include the fair 
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value of the Initial Warrant and the Broker Warrant. We determined the fair value of the Initial Warrant and Broker Warrant using 
Black-Scholes pricing model. As a Subscription Receipt includes both an Initial Unit Share and an Initial warrant, the fair value of 
the Initial Warrant was allocated to Reserve – Warrant and the residual value was allocated to share capital. Therefore, the “Reserves 
– Warrants” have been increased by an amount of $3,014 thousands in order to give effect to the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement to reach $3,181 thousands.  The “Share Capital” has been increased by the amount of $17,580 thousands, as described in 
the table above, to reach $106,649 thousands after giving effect to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement. 

(7) Assuming estimated transaction costs related to the Acquisition of $995,860. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement dated October 29, 2019 among the Corporation and the Underwriters, the 
Corporation has agreed to sell, and the Underwriters have jointly (and not solidarily) agreed to purchase, as principals 
or cause to be purchased, on the Financing Closing Date, 13,335,000 Initial Subscription Receipts at the Offering 
Price for aggregate gross proceeds of $14,001,750 and 7,647,619 Concurrent Subscription Receipts at the Private 
Placement Offering Price for aggregate gross proceeds of $ 8,030,000, in each case, payable in cash to the Subscription 
Receipt Agent against delivery of the Initial Subscription Receipts and the Concurrent Subscription Receipt, as 
applicable, subject to compliance with all necessary legal requirements and the terms and conditions of the 
Underwriting Agreement. The Offering Price was determined by arm’s length negotiations between the Corporation 
and the Co-Lead Underwriters on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, with reference to the 
prevailing market price of the Common Shares. 

The Corporation has granted to the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable in whole or in part at any 
time not later than the earlier of (i) the 30th day from and including the Offering Closing Date and (ii) the Termination 
Time, to purchase up to additional 952,380 Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts at the Public Offering Price, with 
the same terms as the Initial Subscription Receipts, to cover over-allocations, if any, and for market stabilization 
purposes. Each Over-Allotment Subscription Receipt will be convertible into one Over-Allotment Unit. Each Over-
Allotment Unit will consist of one Over-Allotment Share and one-half of one Over-Allotment Warrant. Each Over-
Allotment Warrant will entitle its holder to purchase one Over-Allotment Warrant Share, at a price of $1.40 per Over-
Allotment Warrant Share, at any time prior to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on the date that is 24 months following the 
Offering Closing Date (as defined below). In the event that the Over-Allotment Option is exercised following the 
conversion of the Initial Subscription Receipts into Initial Units, the Underwriters will have the option to exercise the 
Over-Allotment Option by purchasing up to (i) 952,380 Over-Allotment Units at the Public Offering Price; (ii) 
476,190 Over-Allotment Warrants at a price of $0.001 per Over-Allotment Warrant; or (iii) any combination of Over-
Allotment Units and Over-Allotment Warrants, so long as the aggregate number of Over-Allotment Shares and Over-
Allotment Warrants that may be issued upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option does not exceed 952,380 Over-
Allotment Shares and 476,190 Over-Allotment Warrants. This short form prospectus qualifies the grant of the Over-
Allotment Option and the distribution of the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts or Over-Allotment Units. A 
purchaser who acquires Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts or Over-Allotment Units forming part of the 
Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those securities under this short form prospectus, regardless of 
whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or 
secondary market purchases. 

In consideration for the services provided by the Underwriters in connection with the Offering and the Concurrent 
Private Placement and pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the Corporation has agreed to pay the 
Underwriters the Underwriters’ Commission, equal to 5% of the aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering, other than 
the gross proceeds of sales of Subscription Receipts made to President’s List Purchasers, in which case the 
Underwriters’ Commission will be reduced to 2.5%. Fifty percent of the Underwriters’ Commission will be payable 
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from the gross proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement upon the Financing Closing. The 
remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission will be deposited into escrow with the Subscription Receipt Agent 
and will be payable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event occurs, the 
Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Commission.  

In addition, the Corporation will issue to the Underwriters, as additional compensation, non-transferable Broker 
Warrants entitling the Underwriters to purchase a number of Broker Shares representing 5% of the total number of 
Subscription Receipts sold under this Offering (including, if applicable, as a result of the exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option) and the Concurrent Private Placement, other than on the Subscription Receipts sold to the 
President’s List Purchasers, in which case the right of the Underwriters to purchase the Broker Shares will be reduced 
to an amount of Broker Warrants representing 2.5% of the total number of Subscription Receipts sold to the President’s 
List Purchasers. 50% of the Broker Warrants will be issuable upon the Financing Closing. The remaining 50% of the 
Broker Warrants will be issuable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event 
occurs, the Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants. The Broker 
Warrants will be exercisable at a price per Broker Share equal to the Public Offering Price for a period of 18 months 
from the Financing Closing Date. This short form prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Broker Warrants and the 
distribution of any Broker Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Broker Warrants. Please refer to the section 
entitled “Description of Securities being Distributed - Broker Warrants” for the detailed terms governing the Broker 
Warrants.

The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are joint and not solidary, and are subject to 
certain closing conditions including, but not limited to, the completion of the Concurrent Private Placement, and may 
be terminated at their discretion on the basis of, among other things, the “material change out”, the “market out”, the 
“regulatory out” and the “disaster out” provisions of the Underwriting Agreement. The Underwriters will be, however, 
obligated to take-up and pay for all of the Initial Subscription Receipts if any Initial Subscription Receipts are 
purchased under the Underwriting Agreement.  

The Underwriters propose to offer the Initial Subscription Receipts to the public initially at the Offering Price. Without 
affecting the firm obligation of the Underwriters to purchase the Initial Subscription Receipts in accordance with the 
Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters may decrease the Offering Price of the Initial Subscription Receipts which 
they sell under this short form prospectus after they have made a reasonable effort to sell all such Initial Subscription 
Receipts, as applicable, at the Offering Price. The sale by the Underwriters of Initial Subscription Receipts at a price 
lower than the Offering Price will have the effect of reducing the compensation realized by the Underwriters by the 
amount that the aggregate price paid by the purchasers for Initial Subscription Receipts is less than the gross proceeds 
paid by the Underwriters for the Initial Subscription Receipts, as applicable. 

In the event that the Offering Closing and the Concurrent Private Placement Closing occur concurrently with 
Acquisition Closing, investors in the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement will receive Units instead of 
Subscription Receipts. This short form prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Unit Shares that may be issued if 
the Offering Closing occurs concurrently with or following the Acquisition Closing. This short form prospectus also 
qualifies the distribution of the Unit Shares, the Warrants, and the Warrant Shares 

Pursuant to applicable Canadian and U.S. regulatory restrictions, the Underwriters may not, throughout the period of 
distribution, bid for or purchase any Common Shares for their own account. These restrictions allow certain 
exceptions. The Underwriters may only avail themselves of such exceptions on the condition that the bid or purchase 
not be engaged in for the purpose of creating actual or apparent active trading in, or raising the price of, the 
Subscription Receipts and/or Common Shares. These exceptions include a bid or purchase for Common Shares 
permitted under the by-laws and rules of the TSX-V relating to market stabilization and passive market making 
activities and a bid or purchase made for and on behalf of a customer where the order was not solicited during the 
period of distribution. Pursuant to the first mentioned exception, in connection with this Offering, the Underwriters 
may undertake transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts and/or Common 
Shares at levels other than those which otherwise might prevail on the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, 
may be discontinued at any time. 

The Offering is being made in each of  the provinces of Canada The Initial Subscription Receipts will be offered in 
such provinces of Canada through those Underwriters or their affiliates who are registered to offer the Initial 
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Subscription Receipts for sale in such provinces and such other registered dealers as may be designated by the 
Underwriters. Subject to applicable law and the provisions of the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters may 
offer the Initial Subscription Receipts outside of Canada. 

The offer and sale of the Initial Subscription Receipts and the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts offered hereby 
(and the underlying Initial Units, Initial Unit Shares, Initial Warrants and Initial Warrant Shares, Over-Allotment 
Units, Over-Allotment Shares, Over-Allotment Warrants and Over-Allotment Warrant Shares, as applicable, issuable 
pursuant thereto) have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or the securities laws of any 
state of the United States, and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United States or 
to U.S. Persons except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable U.S. state securities laws. Accordingly, except to the extent permitted by the Underwriting Agreement, the 
Initial Subscription Receipts and the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts may not be offered or sold within the 
United States or to U.S. Persons. Each Underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell the Initial Subscription 
Receipts or the Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts within the United States or to U.S. Persons, except in 
transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable U.S. state securities 
laws. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the Underwriters may re-offer and re-sell the Initial Subscription 
Receipts and/or Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts they have acquired pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement 
to “qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act) (“Rule 144A”) in the United 
States and to U.S. Persons in accordance with Rule 144A and similar exemptions under applicable U.S. state securities 
laws. In addition, pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters may arrange for “accredited investors” 
(as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act) that are in the United States or 
U.S. Persons to purchase Initial Subscription Receipts and/or Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts directly from the 
Corporation pursuant to Rule 506(b) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act, in place of the Underwriters 
purchasing such Initial Subscription Receipts and Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts. The Underwriting 
Agreement also provides that the Underwriters will offer and sell the Initial Subscription Receipts and Over-Allotment 
Subscription Receipts outside the United States to non-U.S. Persons in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S 
promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, an offer 
or sale of the Initial Subscription Receipts or Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts within the United States by any 
dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities 
Act, unless such offer or sale is made pursuant to an exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act.

The Warrants will not be exercisable by or on behalf of a person in the United States or a U.S. Person, nor will 
certificates representing the Warrant Shares be registered or delivered to an address in the United States, unless an 
exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws is 
available and the Corporation has received an opinion of counsel of recognized standing or other evidence to such 
effect in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation; provided, however, that a holder who is a 
Qualified Institutional Buyer or an Accredited Investor, as applicable, at the time of exercise of the Warrants who 
purchased Subscription Receipts in the Offering to, or for the account or benefit of, persons in the United States or 
U.S. Persons will not be required to deliver an opinion of counsel in connection with the exercise of the Warrants that 
are a part of the Units issuable pursuant to such Subscription Receipts. 

The Initial Subscription Receipts and any Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts issued in the Offering (and the 
underlying Initial Units, Initial Unit Shares, Initial Warrants and Initial Warrant Shares, Over-Allotment Units, Over-
Allotment Shares, Over-Allotment Warrants and Over-Allotment Warrant Shares, as applicable, issuable pursuant to 
such Initial Subscription Receipts and Over-Allotment Subscription Receipts) to persons in the United States or U.S. 
Persons will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the U.S. Securities Act. Any 
certificates representing such securities will bear a legend to the effect that the securities represented thereby are not 
registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any applicable U.S. state securities laws and may only be offered, sold, 
pledged or otherwise transferred pursuant to certain exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. 
Securities Act and any applicable U.S. state securities laws.

The Corporation will not, directly or indirectly, offer, issue, sell or grant any Common Shares or securities convertible 
into, exchangeable for, or otherwise exercisable to acquire Common Shares or other equity securities of the 
Corporation for a period of 120 days after the Financing Closing Date, without the prior written consent of the Co-
Lead Underwriters, on behalf of the Underwriters, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, except in conjunction 
with: (i) the Offering; (ii) the Concurrent Private Placement; (iii) the grant or exercise of stock options and other 
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similar issuances pursuant to the share incentive plan of the Corporation and other share compensation arrangements; 
(iv) the grant or issuance of Common Shares in connection with acquisitions in the normal course of business; (v) the 
grant or issuance of Common Shares in connection with obligations of the Corporation in respect of existing share 
incentive plans and any other share-based compensation arrangement of the Corporation; or (vi) obligations of the 
Corporation in respect of existing convertible instruments issued as of the date hereof. 

In addition, it shall be a condition to the Financing Closing that each of the senior officers and each of the directors of 
the Corporation enters into lock-up agreements in favour of the Underwriters, pursuant to which each of such persons 
will agree, for a period of 120 days after the Financing Closing Date, not to sell, offer to sell, grant any option, right 
or warrant for the sale of, or otherwise lend, transfer, assign or dispose of, any securities of the Corporation, without 
the prior written consent of the Co-Lead Underwriters, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, nothing shall prevent any of the senior officers and each of the directors of the Corporation (or their 
respective affiliates) from transferring securities of the Corporation (a) to an affiliate, (b) in connection with an internal 
reorganization, (c) for tax planning purposes or in connection with charitable activities, or (d) pursuant to a pled as 
security for indebtedness.  

Subscriptions for Initial Subscription Receipts will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part 
and the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. Except in the limited circumstances, 
it is anticipated that an electronic position representing the Initial Subscription Receipts and the underlying Units, if 
issued, will be issued, registered and deposited in electronic form with CDS or its nominee pursuant to the non-
certificated inventory system. The Units will separate immediately into Unit Shares and Warrants upon issuance. 
Except in limited circumstances, no beneficial holder of Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant 
Shares, as the case may be, will receive definitive certificates representing their interest in the Subscription Receipts, 
Unit Shares, Warrants and Warrant Shares, as the case may be. Further, except in limited circumstances, beneficial 
holders of Subscription Receipts will receive only a customer confirmation from the Underwriters or other registered 
dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through whom a beneficial interest in the Subscription Receipts is 
acquired. 

The TSX-V has conditionally approved the listing of the Unit Shares, the Warrants and the Warrant Shares issuable 
pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, as well as the Broker Shares. Listing of the Unit 
Shares, the Warrants and the Warrant Shares issuable pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, 
as well as the Broker Shares, is subject to the Corporation fulfilling all the listing requirements of the TSX-V. Closings 
of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement are subject to receipt of the prior approval of the Offering and 
the Concurrent Private Placement by the TSX-V and other usual closing conditions. 

Concurrently with the Offering, the Corporation will complete the Concurrent Private Placement for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $8,030,000. Certain of the Corporation’s current institutional shareholders have confirmed that they will 
participate in the Concurrent Private Placement, and the Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters will enter into a 
Subscription Agreement with each of the Private Placement Subscribers. The Concurrent Private Placement will be 
made pursuant to exemptions from Canadian prospectus requirements and the Concurrent Subscription Receipts will 
be identical to the Initial Subscription Receipts, save that the Concurrent Subscription Receipts, the underlying Unit 
Shares and the underlying Warrant Shares will be subject to restrictions on resale for a period of four months and one 
day from the Concurrent Private Placement Closing Date under applicable securities legislation. This short form 
prospectus does not qualify the Concurrent Subscription Receipts (or the securities underlying the Concurrent 
Subscription Receipts) for distribution. The Concurrent Private Placement Closing is scheduled to be completed 
concurrently with the Offering Closing. Closing of the Concurrent Private Placement and of the Offering are 
conditional upon each other.  

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES BEING DISTRIBUTED 

Subscription Receipts 

General 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Subscription Receipts. This summary 
does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms of the 
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Subscription Receipt Agreement, which will be filed by the Corporation on SEDAR at www.sedar.com following the 
Financing Closing Date. 

Escrowed Proceeds 

The Escrowed Proceeds will be delivered to and held in escrow by the Subscription Receipt Agent as agent and bailee 
on behalf of the holders of Subscription Receipts and invested in short-term obligations of, or guaranteed by, the 
Government of Canada or Other Investments, provided that such short-term obligations or Other Investments are 
qualified investments within the meaning of the Tax Act, approved in writing by the Corporation and the Co-Lead 
Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, until the earlier of the satisfaction of the 
Escrow Release Conditions and the Termination Time. 

Terms of Subscription Receipts 

If the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied or waived prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, the Escrowed 
Funds will be released to the Corporation upon delivery of a certificate by the Corporation to the Underwriters and 
Subscription Receipt Agent, and acknowledged by the Co-Lead Underwriters, certifying that the Escrow Release 
Conditions have been satisfied (or waived) (the “Escrow Release Notice”). 

Upon execution and delivery of the Escrow Release Notice to the Subscription Receipt Agent: (a) the Subscription 
Receipt Agent will as directed by the Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters (i) release the Escrowed Funds to 
the Corporation and (ii) remit to the Underwriters the Remaining Underwriters’ Commission; and (b) the holders of 
Subscription Receipts will automatically receive, without payment of additional consideration or further action, one 
Unit for each Subscription Receipt held. The Units will separate immediately into Unit Shares and Warrants upon 
issuance.  

If a Termination Event occurs prior to the satisfaction or waiver of the Escrow Release Conditions, the Corporation 
shall forthwith provide written notice to the Co-Lead Underwriters and the Subscription Receipt Agent, and shall issue 
a press release setting forth the Termination Time. Upon the occurrence of a Termination Event, the rights evidenced 
by each Subscription Receipt shall be automatically terminated and cancelled without any further action and holders 
of Subscription Receipts will, no later than the third business day following the Termination Time, receive from the 
Subscription Receipt Agent and the Corporation (to the extent the Escrowed Proceeds are insufficient), an amount 
equal to the Offering Price multiplied by the number of Subscription Receipts held by such holder, together with 
interest equal to their pro rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, less applicable withholding taxes, if 
any. 

To the extent that the Escrowed Funds and the other amounts referred to above are insufficient to remit the Termination 
Payment to purchasers of Subscription Receipts, the Corporation will be required to contribute such amounts as are 
necessary to satisfy any shortfall.  

Pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement, the Corporation will not declare or pay any dividend in cash, or make 
any distribution of cash, on any of the Common Shares of the Corporation prior to the earlier of the Termination Time 
and the date on which the Subscription Receipt Agent release the Escrowed Funds in accordance with the Escrow 
Release Notice. 

Amendments, Modifications or Alterations 

From time to time while the Subscription Receipts are outstanding, the Corporation, the Co-Lead Underwriters and 
the Subscription Receipt Agent, without the consent of the holders of the Subscription Receipts, may amend or 
supplement the Subscription Receipt Agreement for certain purposes, including making any change that, in the opinion 
of the Subscription Receipt Agent, does not prejudice the rights of the holders of Subscription Receipts. The 
Subscription Receipt Agreement provides for the making of other modifications and alterations thereto and to the 
terms of the Subscription Receipts issued thereunder by way of a special resolution. The term “special resolution” is 
defined in the Subscription Receipt Agreement to mean a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of the holders of 
not less than 66 ⅔% of the number of outstanding Subscription Receipts represented and voting at a meeting of 
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Subscription Receipt holders or an instrument or instruments in writing signed by the holders of not less than 66 ⅔% 
of the number of outstanding Subscription Receipts. 

Non-Certificated Delivery and Form of Subscription Receipts  

Except in limited circumstances, it is anticipated that the Subscription Receipts and the underlying Units, if issued, 
will be issued, registered and deposited in electronic form with CDS or its nominee pursuant to the non-certificated 
inventory system. The Units will separate immediately into Unit Shares and Warrants upon issuance. Except in limited 
circumstances, no beneficial holder of Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case 
may be, will receive definitive certificates representing their interest in the Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, 
Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case may be and beneficial holders of Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants 
or Warrant Shares, as the case may be, will receive only a customer confirmation from the Underwriters or other 
registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through whom a beneficial interest in the Subscription Receipts 
is acquired.  

Neither the Corporation nor the Underwriters will assume any liability for: (a) any aspect of the records relating to the 
beneficial ownership of the Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or the Warrant Shares, as the case may be, 
held by CDS or the payments relating thereto; (b) maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the 
Subscription Receipts Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case may be; or (c) any advice or representation 
made by or with respect to CDS and those contained in this short form prospectus and relating to the rules governing 
CDS or any action to be taken by CDS or at the direction of its CDS Participants. The rules governing CDS provide 
that it acts as the agent and depository for the CDS Participants. As a result, CDS Participants must look solely to 
CDS, and persons, other than CDS Participants, having an interest in the Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants 
or Warrant Shares, as the case may be, must look solely to CDS Participants for payments made by or on behalf of 
the Corporation to CDS in respect of the Subscription Receipts, Unit Shares, Warrants or Warrant Shares, as the case 
may be. 

Except in limited circumstances, the underlying Units issued upon the conversion of the Subscription Receipts will be 
deposited in electronic form with CDS or its nominee pursuant to the non-certificated inventory system. On the date 
the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied or waived, the Corporation, via its transfer agent, will electronically 
deliver the underlying Units registered to CDS or its nominee. The Units will separate immediately into Unit Shares 
and Warrants upon issuance. All rights of shareholders who hold Unit Shares or Warrant Shares in CDS must be 
exercised through, and all payments or other property to which such shareholders are entitled, will be made or 
delivered by CDS or the CDS Participant through which the shareholder holds such Unit Shares or Warrant Shares. A 
holder of a Unit Share or Warrant Share participating in the non-certificated inventory system will not be entitled to a 
certificate or other instrument from the Corporation or the Corporation’s transfer agent evidencing that person’s 
interest in or ownership of Unit Shares or Warrant Shares, nor, to the extent applicable, will such holder be shown on 
the records maintained by CDS, except through an agent who is a CDS Participant. The ability of a beneficial owner 
of Unit Shares or Warrant Shares to pledge such Unit Shares or otherwise take action with respect to such owner’s 
interest in such Unit Shares or Warrant Shares (other than through a CDS Participant) may be limited due to the lack 
of a physical certificate. 

Holders of Subscription Receipts are Not Shareholders 

Holders of Subscription Receipts are not, as such, shareholders of the Corporation and will not have any voting or 
pre-emptive rights or other rights as shareholders. From and after the date the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied 
or waived, the former holders of Subscription Receipts will be entitled as holders of Unit Shares to receive dividends 
declared by the Corporation, if any, to vote and to all other rights available to holders of Common Shares. 

Common Shares  

The Corporation’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and preferred shares 
(the “Preferred Shares”) issuable in series, all without par value. As of November 5, 2019, a total of 
55,889,989 Common Shares and no Preferred Shares are issued and outstanding. 
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The holders of Common Shares have the right to vote at all meetings of shareholders, with the exception of those 
meetings at which only the holders of other classes of shares have voting rights. The holders of Common Shares are 
entitled to receive and to be paid in money, in shares or in property of the Corporation, out of the monies of the 
Corporation applicable to the declaration and the payment of dividends, any amount of declared dividend, when and 
as declared by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive the 
remaining assets of the Corporation upon its liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or any other distribution of its assets. 

Warrants 

General 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Warrants. The material attributes and 
characteristics of the Warrants are not applicable to the Broker Warrants. This summary does not purport to be 
complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms of the Warrant Indenture (as defined 
below), which will be filed by the Corporation on SEDAR at www.sedar.com following the Financing Closing Date. 

Terms of Warrants 

The Warrants will be created and issued pursuant to, and will be governed by, the terms of the warrant indenture to 
be dated the Financing Closing Date (the “Warrant Indenture”), between the Corporation and AST Trust Company 
(Canada) (the “Warrant Agent”). The Corporation will appoint the principal transfer office of the Warrant Agent in 
Montréal, Québec as the location at which Warrants may be surrendered for exercise or transfer. 

Each Warrant will entitle the holder to purchase one Warrant Share at an exercise price of $1.40, subject to adjustment 
as described below. The Initial Warrants and the Over-Allotment Warrants will expire if not exercised prior to 
5:00 p.m. (Eastern time) on the date that is 24 months following the Financing Closing Date. The Warrant Shares, 
when issued upon exercise of the Warrants, will be fully paid and non-assessable, and the Corporation will pay any 
transfer tax incurred as a result of the issuance of the underlying Warrant Shares except for any tax payable in respect 
of any transfer in a name other than the holders’. 

The Warrants may not be exercised in the United States, or by or for the account of a U.S. Person or a person in the 
United States, except pursuant to exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and any 
applicable state securities laws, and the holder has delivered to the Corporation a written opinion of counsel, in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation to such effect; provided, however, that a purchaser that is, or 
is acting for the account or benefit of, a person in the United States or a U.S. Person that purchased the Warrants in 
the Offering pursuant to Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act or Rule 506(b) of Regulation D under the U.S. 
Securities Act will not be required to deliver an opinion of counsel if it exercises the Warrants for its own account or 
for the account of the original beneficial purchaser, if any, if each of it and such original beneficial purchaser, if any, 
was either a Qualified Institutional Buyer or an Accredited Investor, as applicable, at the time of its purchase and 
exercise of the Warrants. 

The Warrants may be transferred or assigned (subject to certain restrictions). The Corporation may require payment 
of a sum sufficient to cover any taxes or governmental or other charges that may be imposed in connection with any 
registration of transfer or exchange of a Warrant. 

Fractional Warrant Shares 

The Corporation is not required to issue fractional Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the Warrants (and is not 
required to pay cash in lieu of the issuance of fractional Warrant Shares). The holders of the Warrants will not possess 
any rights as shareholders of the Corporation until such holders exercise the Warrants. 

Adjustments 

The Warrant Indenture will provide for adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of the 
Warrants and/or the exercise price per Warrant Share upon the occurrence of certain events, including: 
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(a) the issuance of Common Shares or securities exchangeable for or convertible into Common Shares at no 
additional cost to all or substantially all of the holders of the Common Shares by way of a stock dividend or 
other distribution; 

(b) the subdivision, redivision or change of the Common Shares into a greater number of shares; 

(c) the reduction, combination or consolidation of the Common Shares into a lesser number of shares; 

(d) the issuance to all or substantially all of the holders of the Common Shares of rights, options or warrants 
under which such holders are entitled, during a period expiring not more than 45 days after the record date 
for such issuance, to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares, or securities exchangeable for or convertible 
into Common Shares, at a price per share to the holder (or at an exchange or conversion price per share) of 
less than 95% of the “current market price”, as defined in the Warrant Indenture, for the Common Shares on 
such record date; and 

(e) the issuance or distribution to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of securities of the 
Corporation (including securities exchangeable for or convertible into Common Shares), or other property or 
assets of the Corporation. 

The Warrant Indenture will also provide for adjustment in the class and/or number of securities issuable upon the 
exercise of the Warrants and/or exercise price per security in the event of the following additional events: 

(a) reclassification of the Common Shares (other than as described above); 

(b) consolidations, amalgamations, arrangements or mergers of the Corporation with or into any other 
corporation or other entity (other than consolidations, amalgamations, arrangements or mergers which do not 
result in any reclassification of the outstanding Common Shares or a change of the Common Shares into 
other shares); or 

(c) the transfer of the property or assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to another 
corporation or entity (other than transfers of the property or assets of the Corporation which do not result in 
any reclassification of the outstanding Common Shares or a change of the Common Shares into other shares). 

Amendments and Supplemental Agreements 

From time to time, the Corporation and the Warrant Agent, without the consent of the holders of Warrants, may amend 
or supplement the Warrant Indenture for certain purposes, including curing defects or inconsistencies or making any 
change that, in the opinion of the Warrant Agent, does not prejudice the rights of the Warrant Agent or the holders of 
the Warrants. In accordance with and subject to the terms of the Warrant Indenture, amendments or supplements to 
the Warrant Indenture that so prejudice the interests of the holders of the Warrants may only be made by “extraordinary 
resolution”, which will be defined in the Warrant Indenture as a resolution either (i) passed at a meeting of the holders 
of Warrants at which there are holders of Warrants present in person or represented by proxy representing at least 25% 
of the aggregate number of Warrant Shares which may be acquired pursuant to all the then outstanding Warrants, and 
passed by the affirmative vote of holders of Warrants representing not less than 66 ⅔% of the votes cast upon such 
resolution; or (ii) adopted by an instrument in writing signed by the holders of Warrants entitled to acquire not less 
than 66 ⅔% of the aggregate number of Warrant Shares which may be acquired pursuant to all the then outstanding 
Warrants. 

Broker Warrants 

The Corporation will issue to the Underwriters, as additional compensation, non-transferable Broker Warrants 
entitling the Underwriters to purchase a number of Broker Shares representing 5% of the total number of Subscription 
Receipts sold under this Offering (including, if applicable, as a result of the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) 
and the Concurrent Private Placement, other than on the Subscription Receipts sold to the President’s List Purchasers, 
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in which case the right of the Underwriters to purchase the Broker Shares will be reduced to an amount of Broker 
Warrants representing 2.5% of the total number of Subscription Receipts sold to the President’s List Purchasers.  

Fifty percent of the Broker Warrants will be issuable upon the Financing Closing. The remaining 50% of the Broker 
Warrants will be issuable only upon satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. If a Termination Event occurs, the 
Underwriters will not be entitled to receive the remaining 50% of the Broker Warrants.  

The Broker Warrants will be exercisable at a price per Broker Share equal to the Public Offering Price for a period of 
18 months from the Financing Closing Date. The terms governing the Broker Warrants will be set out in the certificates 
representing the Broker Warrants and will include, among other things, customary provisions for the appropriate 
adjustment of the class and number of Broker Shares issuable pursuant to the exercise of the Broker Warrants upon 
the occurrence of certain events, including any subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the Common Shares, 
any payment of stock dividends to holders of all the Common Shares, any capital reorganization of the Corporation, 
or any merger, consolidation or amalgamation of the Corporation with another company or entity. This short form 
prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Broker Warrants and the distribution of any Broker Shares issued pursuant 
to the exercise of the Broker Warrants.

PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes issuances of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common Shares in the 
twelve-month period prior to the date of this short form prospectus: 

Security Number Price Issuance Date 

Common Shares 15,745,775 $0.83 November 30, 2018 
Common Share purchase warrants(1) 642,710 $0.83 November 30, 2018 

(1) Non-transferable broker warrants entitling the holders thereof to purchase one Common Share at a price of $0.83 until November 30, 2020. 

TRADING PRICE AND VOLUME 

The Common Shares are currently listed on the TSX-V under the symbol “HEO”. The Common Shares are also traded 
on the NYSE Euronext Growth Paris in Europe under the symbol “ALHEO” and on the OTCQX marketplace in the 
United States under the symbol “HEOFF”. 

The following table provides the price ranges and trading volume of the Common Shares on the TSX-V for the periods 
indicated below:   

Price Ranges Total Cumulative Volume 

High 
($) 

Low 
($) 

October 2018 $1.19 $0.85 767,017 
November 2018 $1.00 $0.75 495,794 
December 2018 $1.01 $0.82 351,972 
January 2019 $0.95 $0.85 406,704 
February 2019 $0.89 $0.70 406,542 
March 2019 $0.89 $0.80 120,363 
April 2019 $0.98 $0.82 323,503 
May 2019 $1.15 $0.91 265,052 
June 2019 $1.29 $0.96 641,184 
July 2019 $1.24 $1.09 525,897 
August 2019 $1.25 $1.15 583,764 
September 2019 $1.25 $1.15 482,011 
October 2019 $1.24 $0.97 466,377 
November 1-5, 2019 $1.08 $1.00 328,625 
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RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Corporation’s securities involves risk. Before you invest in the Subscription Receipts, you 
should carefully consider the risks contained in or incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus, 
including the risks described below and in the AIF and Annual MD&A, which are incorporated by reference 
into this short form prospectus. The discussion of risks related to the business of the Corporation contained in or 
incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus comprises material risks of which the Corporation is aware. 
If any of the events or developments described actually occurs, the business, financial condition or results of operations 
of the Corporation would likely be adversely affected. 

Risks Relating to this Offering 

There is no prior public market for the Subscription Receipts or the Warrants 

There is currently no market through which the Subscription Receipts or the Warrants underlying the Units may be 
sold and purchasers may not be able to resell the Subscription Receipts purchased under this short form prospectus. 
The TSX-V has conditionally approved the listing of the Warrants issuable pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent 
Private Placement. Listing of the Warrants issuable pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement is 
subject to the Corporation fulfilling all the listing requirements of the TSX-V, and there can be no assurance that the 
conditions will be met. There can be no assurance that an active and liquid trading market will develop for the 
Subscription Receipts or Warrants after the Offering, or if developed, that such a market will be sustained at the price 
level of the Offering. The Offering Price was determined by negotiation between the Corporation and the Co-Lead 
Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, and may not be indicative of the price at 
which the Subscription Receipts or the Warrants will trade following the completion of the Offering. The Corporation 
cannot assure investors that the market price of the Subscription Receipts or Unit Shares or Warrants, as applicable, 
will not materially decline below the initial offering prices. To the extent that an active trading market for the 
Subscription Receipts and the Warrants does not develop, the liquidity and trading prices of the Subscription Receipts 
or the Warrants may be adversely affected. 

The share price has been and is likely to continue to be volatile and an investment in Common Shares may suffer a 
decline in value 

Purchasers should consider an investment in Common Shares as risky and invest only if it can withstand a significant 
loss and wide fluctuations in the market value of your investment. The Corporation receives only limited attention by 
securities analysts and frequently experiences an imbalance between supply and demand for Common Shares. The 
market price of the Common Shares has been highly volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile. This leads to a 
heightened risk of securities litigation pertaining to such volatility. Factors such as the financial position of the 
Corporation and the ability of the Corporation to continue as a going concern; the ability to raise additional capital; 
general market conditions; announcements of technological innovations by the Corporation, the Corporation 
collaborators or its competitors; published reports by securities analysts; developments in patent or other intellectual 
property rights; and shareholder interest in the Common Shares all contribute to the volatility of the share price.

Future sales of Common Shares by the Corporation or by its existing shareholders could cause share price to fall 

The issuance of Common Shares or other securities of the Corporation by the Corporation could result in significant 
dilution in the equity interest of existing shareholders and adversely affect the market price of the Common Shares. 
Sales by existing shareholders of a large number of Common Shares in the public market and the issuance of shares 
issued in connection with strategic alliances, or the perception that such additional sales could occur, could cause the 
market price of the Common Shares to decline and have an undesirable impact on the Corporation’s ability to raise 
capital. 

Dilution of purchasers 

Purchasers who purchase Subscription Receipts as part of the Offering may pay more for the Subscription Receipts 
than the amounts paid by existing shareholders or security holders of the Corporation for their Common Shares. As a 
result, such purchasers may incur immediate and substantial dilution. Convertible securities have been issued and may 
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be issued in the future by the Corporation at a lower price than the current market value of the Common Shares, 
consequently, purchasers who purchase Subscription Receipts under the Offering may incur substantial dilution in the 
near future. 

No dividends have been paid on the Common Shares 

The Corporation has paid no cash dividends on any of its Common Shares to date and currently intends to retain its 
future earnings, if any, to fund the development growth of its businesses. In addition, the terms of any future debt or 
credit facility may preclude the Corporation from paying any dividends unless certain consents are obtained and 
certain conditions are met. 

Subscription Receipt Structure 

The Subscription Receipts will be automatically exchanged for Units concurrently with the closing of the Acquisition. 
The Corporation, with the prior written consent of the Co-Lead Underwriters, may waive or amend certain closing 
conditions in its favour in the Acquisition Agreement or agree to amend the Acquisition Agreement and consummate 
the Acquisition on terms that may be different from those described in this short form prospectus. As a result, the 
expected benefits of the Acquisition may not be fully realized. As a consequence, holders of Subscription Receipts 
will essentially assume the same risk as though they had invested directly in Common Shares on the Offering Closing 
Date. 

Monies in Escrow 

The proceeds of the Offering and any Earned Interest are being held in escrow pending the earlier of (i) the delivery 
of an Escrow Release Notice or (ii) the occurrence of a Termination Event. There can be no assurance that an Escrow 
Release Notice will be delivered prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event.  

If a Termination Event occurs, the Termination Payment will be paid from the balance of the Escrowed Funds on the 
Termination Time. If the balance of the Escrowed Funds is insufficient to cover the full amount of the Termination 
Payment, the Corporation will be required, under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, to pay to the holders of 
Subscription Receipts the difference, if any, between the balance of Escrowed Funds, on the Termination Time and 
the Termination Payment due to the holders of Subscription Receipts. Holders of Subscription Receipts will be 
required to rely on the Corporation to repay funds to the Subscription Receipt Agent or the holders of the Subscription 
Receipts. Although the Corporation believes that it would have sufficient funds to cover such payments, there is no 
guarantee that the Corporation would be in a financial position to cover such payments. 

Historical Financial Information and Pro Forma Financial Information 

The historical financial information relating to Genesys included in this short form prospectus, including such 
information used to prepare the pro forma financial information, has been derived on a historical basis from the 
historical accounting records of Genesys. The historical financial information may not reflect what Genesys’ financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows would have been had H2O Innovation owned all of the outstanding 
common shares of Genesys during the period presented or what H2O Innovation’s financial position, results of 
operations or cash flows will be in the future. The historical financial information does not contain any adjustments 
to reflect changes that may occur in H2O Innovation’s cost structure, financing and operations as a result of the 
Acquisition. 

In preparing the pro forma financial information in this short form prospectus, H2O Innovation has given effect to, 
among other items, the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement, the Term Loan and the completion of the 
Acquisition. The assumptions and estimates underlying the pro forma financial information may be materially 
different from H2O Innovation’s actual experience going forward. See “Caution Regarding Unaudited Pro Forma 
Consolidated Financial Statements” and “Cautionary Statement regarding Forward-Looking Statements”. 
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Rights of Holders of Subscription Receipts may Change 

From time to time while the Subscription Receipts are outstanding, the Corporation, the Underwriters and the 
Subscription Receipt Agent, without the consent of the holders of the Subscription Receipts, may amend or supplement 
the Subscription Receipt Agreement for certain purposes, including making any change that, in the opinion of the 
Subscription Receipt Agent, does not prejudice the rights of the holders of Subscription Receipts. The Subscription 
Receipt Agreement provides for the making of other modifications and alterations thereto and to the terms of the 
Subscription Receipts issued thereunder by way of a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of the holders of not 
less than 66 ⅔% of the number of outstanding Subscription Receipts represented and voting at a meeting of 
Subscription Receipt holders or an instrument or instruments in writing signed by the holders of not less than 66 ⅔% 
of the number of outstanding Subscription Receipts. The summary of the Subscription Receipt Agreement contained 
in this short form prospectus is qualified in its entirety by reference to the terms of such agreement, which should be 
reviewed by holders of Subscription Receipts. The Subscription Receipt Agreement will be filed by the Corporation 
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com following the Financing Closing Date. 

The Concurrent Private Placements May Not Be Completed 

Although H2O Innovation and the Co-Lead Underwriters will enter into the Subscription Agreements with the Private 
Placement Purchasers, there is no guarantee that all of the conditions to the completion of the Concurrent Private 
Placement will be satisfied. The closing of the Offering is conditional on the closing of the Concurrent Private 
Placement.  

Exchange Rate Risk 

As H2O Innovation anticipates funding a portion of the purchase price of the Acquisition from Canadian dollar 
denominated securities as per the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and the purchase price of the Acquisition 
is denominated in British pounds, a significant decline in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the British pounds 
at the time of closing of the Acquisition could increase the cost to the Corporation of funding the purchase price of 
the Acquisition. Although the Corporation implemented certain hedging strategies in order to mitigate its exposure to 
such currency exchange risk, there can be no assurance that such hedging or other risk management strategies, if any, 
undertaken by the Corporation will be effective. In addition, currency hedging entails a risk of illiquidity and 
counterparty default and, to the extent the British pounds depreciates against the Canadian dollar, the risk of using 
hedges could result in losses greater than if the hedging had not been used. Also, hedging arrangements may have the 
effect of limiting or reducing the total returns to the Corporation if management’s expectations concerning future 
events (including the Brexit) or market conditions prove to be incorrect, in which case the costs associated with the 
hedging strategies may outweigh their benefits.

Risks Related to the Acquisition 

Possible Failure or Delay in the Acquisition Closing 

The Acquisition Closing is subject to the satisfaction of certain closing conditions. There is no certainty, nor can the 
Corporation provide any assurance, that these conditions will be satisfied or, if satisfied, when they will be satisfied. 
The Corporation intends to complete the Acquisition as soon as practicable after satisfying the required closing 
conditions. However, there can be no assurance that the Acquisition will be completed on the terms negotiated or at all. 
If the Acquisition is not completed as contemplated, the Corporation could suffer adverse consequences, including the 
loss of investor confidence. See “The Acquisition”. 

Integration of the Combined Business 

The Corporation’s ability to maintain and successfully operate its business depends upon the judgment and project 
execution skills of its senior professionals. Any management disruption or difficulties in integrating the management 
and operations staff of the Corporation and the Targets could significantly affect the Corporation’s business and results 
of operations. The success of the Acquisition will depend, in large part, on the ability of management to realize the 
anticipated benefits and cost synergies from integration of the businesses of the Corporation and the Targets. The 



31 

integration of the businesses may result in significant challenges, and management may be unable to accomplish the 
integration smoothly, or successfully, in a timely manner or without spending significant amounts of money. It is 
possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of the respective ongoing 
businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies that adversely affect the ability of 
management to maintain relationships with business partners or employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of 
the Acquisition. 

The integration of the Targets requires the dedication of substantial effort, time and resources on the part of 
management, which may divert management’s focus and resources from other strategic opportunities and from 
operational matters during this process. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to integrate the 
operations of each of the businesses successfully or achieve any of the synergies or other benefits that are anticipated 
as a result of the Acquisition. The extent to which synergies are realized and the timing of such cannot be assured. 
Any inability of the Corporation to successfully integrate the operations of the Corporation and the Targets could have 
a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation. The 
challenges involved in the integration may include, among other things, the following: the necessity of coordinating 
both geographically disparate and overlapping organizations and addressing possible differences in corporate and 
regional cultures and management philosophies; retaining key personnel during the period between execution of the 
Acquisition Agreement and the closing and post-closing of the Acquisition, including addressing the uncertainties of 
key employees regarding their future; integrating the Targets into the Corporation’s accounting system and adjusting 
the Corporation’s internal control environment to cover the operations of the Targets; unforeseen expenses or delays 
associated with the Acquisition; performance shortfalls relative to expectations at one or both of the businesses as a 
result of the diversion of management’s attention to the Acquisition; meeting the expectations of business partners 
during the period between execution of the Acquisition Agreement and the closing and post-closing of the Acquisition 
with respect to the overall integration of the businesses; and unplanned costs required to integrate the businesses and 
achieve synergies. 

The successful integration of the Acquisition is also subject to the risk that personnel from the Targets and the 
Corporation may not be able to work together successfully, which could adversely impact the Corporation’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Unexpected Costs or Liabilities Related to the Acquisition 

Although the Corporation has conducted what it believes to be a prudent and thorough level of investigation in 
connection with the Acquisition and has negotiated indemnities with the Vendors in the Acquisition Agreement to 
cover certain potential future liabilities, such indemnities may be limited and an unavoidable level of risk remains 
regarding any undisclosed or unknown liabilities of, or issues concerning, the Targets. Following the Acquisition, the 
Corporation may discover that it has acquired substantial undisclosed liabilities.  

In addition, the Corporation may be unable to retain the Targets’ clients or employees following the Acquisition. The 
continuing and collaborative efforts of senior management and employees of the Targets are important to their success 
and their business would be harmed if they were to lose their services. The existence of undisclosed liabilities and the 
Corporation’s inability to retain the Targets’ clients or employees could have an adverse impact on the Corporation’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Indemnities in the Acquisition Agreement 

The Acquisition Agreement contains representations and warranties provided by the Vendors which are customary for 
a transaction of this nature as well as certain indemnities specific to the Acquisition. There can be no assurance, 
however, of adequate recovery by the Corporation from the Vendors for any breach of the representations, warranties 
and covenants or in respect of any indemnities provided by the Vendors under the Acquisition Agreement, or that the 
length and amounts of the indemnities provided will be sufficient to satisfy such obligations or that the Vendors will 
have the financial ability to satisfy same.  
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No Assurance of Future Performance 

Although the Acquisition Agreement contains covenants on the part of the Vendors regarding the operation of its 
business prior to the Acquisition Closing, the Corporation will not control the Targets until completion of the 
Acquisition and their business and results of operations may be adversely affected by events that are outside of the 
Corporation’s control during the intervening period. The historic and current performance of the Targets may not be 
indicative of success in future periods. The future performance of the Targets may be influenced by, among other 
factors, economic downturns, reductions in government and private industry spending and other factors beyond the 
control of the Corporation. As a result of any one or more of these factors, the operations and financial performance of 
the Targets may be negatively affected, which could adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial 
condition of the Corporation.  

Historic and current performance of the business of the Corporation may not be indicative of success in future periods. 
The future performance of the business of the Corporation after the Acquisition may be influenced by, among other 
factors, economic downturns and other factors beyond the control of the Corporation. As a result of any one or more 
of these factors, the operations and financial performance of the Corporation, including the Targets, may be negatively 
affected, which may adversely affect the Corporation’s financial results. 

Information Provided with Respect to the Targets 

This short form prospectus contains other disclosure regarding the Targets that is based on information provided to 
the Corporation by the Vendors. Although the Corporation has conducted what it believes to be a prudent and thorough 
level of investigation of the Targets in connection with the Acquisition, an unavoidable level of risk remains regarding 
the accuracy and completeness of the information provided to the Corporation by the Vendors. While the Corporation 
has no reason to believe the information provided by the Vendors is misleading, untrue or incomplete, there may be 
events which may have occurred with respect to the Targets or which may affect the completeness or accuracy of the 
information provided by the Vendors which are unknown to the Corporation. The fact that information has been 
obtained by the Corporation from the Vendors does not relieve the Corporation of any liability it may be found to 
have in the event the disclosure in this short form prospectus based on such information were to contain a 
misrepresentation under applicable securities laws. 

Foreign Currency Exposure 

After giving effect to the Acquisition, a significantly increased portion of H2O Innovation’s earnings and net assets 
will be denominated in British pounds. Accordingly, fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar 
and the British pounds may have an increased adverse effect on H2O Innovation’s results and financial condition. 
Future events that may significantly increase or decrease the risk of future movement in the exchange rate for these 
currencies cannot be predicted.  

Significant Transaction and Related Costs 

H2O Innovation expects to incur a number of costs associated with completing the Acquisition and integrating the 
operations of H2O Innovation and the Targets. The substantial majority of such costs will be non-recurring expenses 
resulting from the Acquisition and will consist of transaction costs related to the Acquisition, facilities and systems 
consolidation costs and employment-related costs. Additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in the integration 
of H2O Innovation and the Targets’ respective businesses. 

Increased Indebtedness 

To finance the Acquisition, H2O Innovation will incur additional debt by way of the Term Loan. Such borrowings 
would increase H2O Innovation’s consolidated indebtedness. Such additional indebtedness would increase H2O 
Innovation’s interest expense and debt service obligations and may have a negative effect on H2O Innovation’s results 
of operations and/or credit ratings. The increased indebtedness will also make H2O Innovation’s results more sensitive 
to increases in interest rates. H2O Innovation’s degree of leverage could have other important consequences for 
purchasers, including the following: it may limit H2O Innovation’s ability to obtain additional financing for working 
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capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; certain 
of H2O Innovation’s proposed borrowings may be at variable rates of interest and expose H2O Innovation to the risk 
of increased interest rates; it may limit H2O Innovation’s ability to adjust to changing market conditions and place 
H2O Innovation at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that have less debt; H2O Innovation may 
be vulnerable in a downturn in general economic conditions; and H2O Innovation may be unable to make capital 
expenditures that are important to its growth and strategies. 

Political and Economic Uncertainties in the United Kingdom 

The United Kingdom is currently negotiating a proposed exit from the European Union (the “Brexit”) resulting in 
ongoing political, economical and social uncertainties. While the Corporation cannot ascertain the exact consequences 
of the Brexit on the commercial and economic activities in the United Kingdom including any impact of the British 
pound, the Corporation and Genesys’ business, results of operations and financial condition could be negatively 
impacted by the outcomes of the Brexit. 

CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES 

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP and Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP (collectively, “Counsel”), the 
following summary, as of the date hereof, describes the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations in 
respect of a holder who acquires Initial Subscription Receipts issued pursuant to the Offering and Initial Units, Initial 
Unit Shares or Initial Warrants issued pursuant to the Initial Subscription Receipts or Initial Warrant Shares issued 
pursuant to the exercise of an Initial Warrant (collectively, the “Offered Securities”). This summary is generally 
applicable to a beneficial owner of Offered Securities who, for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the 
regulations thereunder (together, the “Tax Act”) and at all relevant times, is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada, 
holds or will hold the Offered Securities as capital property, deals at arm’s length and is not affiliated with the 
Corporation, the Underwriters, any subsequent purchaser of the Offered Securities, or any issuers with which the 
Escrowed Funds are invested (a “Holder”). Generally, Offered Securities will be considered to be capital property to 
a Holder provided the Holder does not hold the Offered Securities in the course of carrying on a business of trading 
or dealing in securities and has not acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern 
in the nature of trade. Certain Holders may be entitled to make or may have already made the irrevocable election 
permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act, the effect of which may be to deem to be capital property any Initial 
Unit Shares or Initial Warrant Shares (and all other “Canadian securities”, as defined in the Tax Act) owned by such 
Holder in the taxation year in which the election is made and in all subsequent taxation years. This election is not 
applicable in respect of Initial Subscription Receipts or Initial Warrants.

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof and Counsel’s 
understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency 
(the “CRA”) published in writing and publicly available prior to the date hereof. This summary takes into account all 
specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance 
(Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”) and assumes the Proposed Amendments will be 
enacted in the form proposed. No assurance can be given that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form 
proposed, or at all. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by 
judicial, administrative, governmental or legislative decision or action or changes in the administrative policies or 
assessing practices of the CRA, nor does it take into account other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign tax 
considerations, which may differ materially from those described in this summary. 

This summary is not applicable to a Holder (i) that is a “financial institution” for purposes of certain rules in the Tax 
Act (referred to as the mark-to-market rules applicable to securities held by financial institutions), (ii) an interest in 
which is a “tax shelter investment” as defined in the Tax Act, (iii) that is a “specified financial institution” as defined 
in the Tax Act, (iv) that makes or has made a functional currency reporting election pursuant to section 261 of the Tax 
Act, (v) that has entered, or will enter, into a “derivative forward agreement” or “synthetic disposition arrangement”, 
each as defined in the Tax Act with respect to the Offered Securities, (vi) that is a partnership, (vii) that is exempt 
from tax under Part I of the Tax Act, (viii) that receives dividends on Unit Shares or Warrant Shares under or as part 
of a “dividend rental arrangement” as defined in the Tax Act, or (ix) that is a corporation resident in Canada and is, or 
becomes, as part of a transaction or event or series of transactions or events that includes the acquisition of the Offered 
Securities, controlled by a non-resident person, or, if no single non-resident person has or acquires control, by a group 
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of non-resident persons that do not deal with each other at arm’s length for the purposes of the “foreign affiliate 
dumping” rules in section 212.3 of the Tax Act. Such Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, and should not be construed as, legal or tax advice 
to any particular Holder. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible income tax considerations under the Tax Act 
that may affect a Holder. The income tax consequences of acquiring and disposing of Offered Securities will vary 
depending on a number of facts, including the legal status of the Holder as an individual, corporation, trust or 
partnership. Accordingly, prospective Holders of Offered Securities should consult their own tax advisors with respect 
to their particular circumstances and the tax consequences to them of acquiring, holding and disposing of Offered 
Securities pursuant to the Offering, having regard to their particular circumstances. This summary is based upon the 
understanding of Counsel that an Initial Subscription Receipt evidences a contractual right to acquire an Initial Unit 
on the satisfaction of certain conditions. No advance tax ruling in respect of the Offering has been sought from the 
CRA and Counsel is not aware of any judicial authority relating to this characterization. 

Holding and Disposing of Initial Subscription Receipts 

Acquisition of Initial Units pursuant to terms of the Initial Subscription Receipts 

A Holder of Initial Subscription Receipts will not be considered to dispose of the Initial Subscription Receipt and will 
not realize any capital gain or capital loss upon the acquisition of underlying Initial Units pursuant to the terms of the 
Initial Subscription Receipts.  

In acquiring an Initial Unit, the Holder will be acquiring ownership of an Initial Unit Share and one-half of an Initial 
Warrant represented by such Initial Unit. The Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrants represented by Initial Units are 
separate properties. Accordingly, the cost of the Initial Subscription Receipt to a Holder must be allocated on a 
reasonable basis between the Initial Unit Share and one-half of the Initial Warrant to determine the cost of each to the 
Holder for purposes of the Tax Act. Such cost would generally be the total of (i) the amount paid to acquire the Initial 
Subscription Receipt, (ii) the Holder’s pro rata share of interest credited or received on the Escrowed Funds that are 
included (and not deducted) in computing the Holder’s income and remitted to the Corporation upon the acquisition 
of the underlying Initial Unit issuable pursuant to the Initial Subscription Receipt. For its purposes, the Corporation 
intends to allocate $0.92 of the amount received in relation to an Initial Subscription Receipt as consideration for the 
issue of each Initial Unit Share and approximately $0.13 of the amount received in relation to an Initial Subscription 
Receipt as a consideration for the issue of each one-half of an Initial Warrant. Although the Corporation believes that 
its allocation is reasonable, it is not binding on the CRA or the Holder. Counsel expresses no opinion with respect to 
the foregoing allocation. 

The Holder’s adjusted cost base of the Initial Unit Share comprised in each Initial Unit will be determined by averaging 
the cost allocated to such Initial Unit Share with the adjusted cost base to the Holder of all Common Shares owned by 
the Holder as capital property at such time. The Holder’s adjusted cost base of one-half of the Initial Warrant 
comprising a part of each Initial Unit will be determined by averaging the cost allocated to such half of the Initial 
Warrant with the adjusted cost base to the Holder of all Warrants owned by the Holder as capital property at such 
time. 

Other Dispositions of Initial Subscription Receipts 

A disposition or deemed disposition by a Holder of an Initial Subscription Receipt other than a disposition described 
above under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Subscription Receipts  – Acquisition of Initial Units pursuant to terms 
of the Initial Subscription Receipts” or below under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Subscription Receipts – 
Acquisition Failing to Close”, will generally result in the Holder realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the 
amount by which the proceeds of disposition received in respect of the Initial Subscription Receipt (which will not 
include any amount included in income on account of interest accrued on the Escrowed Proceeds and not otherwise 
deducted therefrom) exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof immediately 
before the disposition or deemed disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. Such capital gain (or capital loss) 
will be subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Subscription Receipts – 
Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 
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In the event of a disposition or deemed disposition by a Holder of an Initial Subscription Receipt, the Holder’s pro 
rata portion of any interest accrued on the Escrowed Proceeds to the date of the disposition or deemed disposition will 
be included in computing the Holder’s income for the taxation year in which the disposition or deemed disposition 
occurs, except to the extent that such amount was otherwise included in the Holder’s income. Holders should consult 
their own tax advisors as to the amount, if any, required to be so included, and whether or to what extent an offsetting 
deduction may be available to the extent that the portion of the consideration received or receivable by the Holder for 
the Initial Subscription Receipt that can reasonably be considered to be in respect of accrued but unpaid interest on 
the Escrowed Proceeds is less than the amount of such inclusion. 

The cost to a Holder of an Initial Subscription Receipt at any particular time will generally be the amount paid to 
acquire the Initial Subscription Receipt. The adjusted cost base of an Initial Subscription Receipt acquired at any time 
will be determined by averaging the cost of such Initial Subscription Receipt immediately before such time with the 
adjusted cost base of any other Subscription Receipts owned by the Holder as capital property at such time. 

Acquisition Failing to Close 

If a Termination Event occurs, the Subscription Receipt Agent will pay to each Holder of Initial Subscription Receipts, 
the Termination Payment. The Termination Payment payable to each Holder will be an amount equal to (i) the 
aggregate issue price of such Holder’s Initial Subscription Receipts, plus (ii) such Holder’s pro rata share of the 
Earned Interest and Deemed Interest. 

The payment of the portion of the Termination Payment equal to the issue price as a consequence of the occurrence 
of a Termination Event will generally result in the Holder realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount 
by which the proceeds of disposition received in respect of the Initial Subscription Receipt exceed (or are less than) 
the aggregate of the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof and any reasonable costs of disposition. Any part of the 
Termination Payment that represents the Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest will be, and of the Deemed 
Interest should be, excluded from the Holder’s proceeds of disposition of the Initial Subscription Receipt. The cost to 
a Holder of an Initial Subscription Receipt at any particular time will generally be the amount paid to acquire the 
Initial Subscription Receipt. The adjusted cost base of an Initial Subscription Receipt acquired at any time will be 
determined by averaging the cost of such Initial Subscription Receipt immediately before such time with the adjusted 
cost base of any other Initial Subscription Receipts owned by the Holder as capital property at such time. Any such 
capital gain (or capital loss) will be subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of 
Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrant Shares – Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 

Any part of the Termination Payment that represents Earned Interest will be and Deemed Interest should be included 
in the income of the Holder as described below under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Subscription Receipts– Pro 
Rata Share of Interest”. 

Pro Rata Share of Interest 

If a Termination Event occurs, a portion of the Termination Payment paid to a Holder will be comprised of the Holder’s 
pro rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, if any. 

A Holder that is a corporation, partnership, unit trust or any trust of which a corporation or a partnership is a beneficiary 
will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year the amount of any interest accrued to the Holder 
to the end of the Holder’s taxation year, or that is receivable or received by the Holder before the end of that taxation 
year (which includes any amount of Earned Interest remitted to the Corporation upon the acquisition of the underlying 
Initial Unit issuable pursuant to the Initial Subscription Receipt), except to the extent that such interest was included 
in computing the Holder’s income for a preceding taxation year. This will include the Holder’s pro rata share of the 
Earned Interest and should include the Holder’s pro rata share of the Deemed Interest, whether or not such amounts 
are received or receivable by such Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent on behalf of such Holder. In certain 
circumstances, such Holder may be entitled to an offsetting deduction in relation to such interest included in income 
in any prior taxation year but not otherwise paid or credited to the Corporation or Holder. 
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Any other Holder, including an individual and a trust (other than a trust described in the preceding paragraph), will be 
required to include such Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest and should be required to include such Holder’s 
pro rata share of the Deemed Interest, in computing income for a taxation year, that are receivable or received by the 
Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent on behalf of the Holder in that taxation year, depending upon the method 
regularly followed by the Holder in computing income, except to the extent that such amounts were included in 
computing the Holder’s income for a preceding year.  

A Holder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an 
additional tax, which may be refunded under certain circumstances, on its “aggregate investment income” (as defined 
in the Tax Act), which is defined to include interest income and should also include Deemed Interest. 

Holding and Disposing of Initial Warrants 

Exercise of Initial Warrants 

The exercise of an Initial Warrant to acquire an Initial Warrant Share does not constitute a disposition of property for 
purposes of the Tax Act and consequently no gain or loss will be realized by a Holder upon such an exercise. When 
an Initial Warrant is exercised, the Holder’s cost of the Initial Warrant Share acquired thereby will be equal to the 
aggregate of the Holder’s adjusted cost base of such Initial Warrant and the exercise price paid for the Initial Warrant 
Share. The Holder’s adjusted cost base of the Initial Warrant Share so acquired will generally be determined by 
averaging such cost with the adjusted cost base to the Holder of all other Common Shares owned by the Holder and 
held as capital property at such time. 

Expiry of Initial Warrants 

In the event of the expiry of an unexercised Initial Warrant, the Holder will realize a capital loss equal to the Holder’s 
adjusted cost base of such Initial Warrant immediately before its expiry. The tax treatment of capital gains and losses 
is discussed in greater detail below under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrant Shares – 
Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 

Holding and Disposing of Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrant Shares 

Disposition of Initial Unit Shares and Initial Warrant Shares

A disposition or a deemed disposition of an Initial Unit Share or an Initial Warrant Share (each, a “Holder Share”) 
by a Holder (other than a disposition to the Corporation that is not a sale in the open market in the manner in which 
shares would normally be purchased by any member of the public in an open market) will generally result in the 
Holder realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition of the 
Holder Share exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof immediately before 
the disposition or deemed disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. Such capital gain (or capital loss) will 
be subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of Initial Unit Shares and Initial 
Warrant Shares – Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 

Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses 

Generally, one-half of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year must be 
included in the Holder’s income for the year. One-half of any capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) realized by a 
Holder in a taxation year must be deducted from taxable capital gains realized by the Holder in the year of disposition. 
Allowable capital losses in excess of taxable capital gains realized in a taxation year generally may be carried back 
and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation 
year, to the extent and under the circumstances described in the Tax Act. 

The amount of any capital loss realized by a Holder that is a corporation on the disposition or deemed disposition of 
a Holder Share may be reduced by the amount of dividends received or deemed to be received by it on such Common 
Share (or on a share for which the Holder Share has been substituted) to the extent and under the circumstances 



37 

described by the Tax Act. Similar rules may apply where a corporation is a member of a partnership or a beneficiary 
of a trust that, directly or through one or more trusts or partnerships, owns Holder Shares. Holders to whom these rules 
may be relevant should consult their own tax advisors. 

A Holder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an 
additional tax, which may be refunded under certain circumstances, on its “aggregate investment income” (as defined 
in the Tax Act), which is defined to include taxable capital gains. 

Capital gains realized by a Holder who is an individual (other than certain trusts) may result in such Holder being 
liable for alternative minimum tax under the Tax Act. Holders who are individuals should consult their own tax 
advisors in this regard. 

Receipt of Dividends on Holder Shares 

Dividends received or deemed to be received on Holder Shares held by a Holder will be included in computing the 
Holder’s income for the purposes of the Tax Act.  

Such dividends received by a Holder who is an individual (other than certain trusts) will be subject to the gross-up 
and dividend tax credit rules in the Tax Act normally applicable to taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian 
corporations, including the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit in respect of dividends designated by the 
Corporation as eligible dividends in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. There may be limitations on the 
ability of the Corporation to designate dividends as eligible dividends. Taxable dividends received by a Holder who 
is an individual (other than certain trusts) may result in such Holder being liable for alternative minimum tax under 
the Tax Act. Holders who are individuals should consult their own tax advisors in this regard. 

A Holder that is a corporation will include such dividends in computing its income and generally will be entitled to 
deduct the amount of such dividends in computing its taxable income. A Holder that is a “private corporation” or 
“subject corporation” (as such terms are defined in the Tax Act) may be liable under Part IV of the Tax Act to pay a 
tax, which may be refunded under certain circumstances, on the dividends received or deemed to be received on the 
Holder Shares to the extent such dividends are deductible in computing the Holder’s taxable income. In certain 
circumstances, subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act will treat a taxable dividend (other than, generally, any portion thereof 
that is subject to non-refunded Part IV tax) received by a Holder that is a corporation as proceeds of disposition or a 
capital gain. Holders that are corporations are urged to consult their own tax advisors having regard to their particular 
circumstances. 

A Holder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an 
additional tax, which may be refunded under certain circumstances, on its “aggregate investment income” (as defined 
in the Tax Act), which is defined to include dividends received or deemed to be received that are not deductible in 
computing taxable income for a year.

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of Counsel, based on the provisions of the Tax Act and the regulations thereunder in force on the date 
hereof and proposals to amend the Tax Act publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) 
prior to the date hereof, the Initial Subscription Receipts, the Initial Unit Shares, the Initial Warrants and the Initial 
Warrant Shares would, if issued on the date hereof, be “qualified investments” under the Tax Act for trusts governed 
by registered retirement savings plans (“RRSPs”), registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”), registered 
education savings plans (“RESPs”), registered disability savings plans (“RDSPs”), deferred profit sharing plans, and 
tax-free savings accounts (“TFSAs”), each as defined in the Tax Act (collectively, the “Deferred Plans”) provided 
that:  

 in the case of the Initial Unit Shares and the Initial Warrant Shares, either (x) such shares are listed on a 
“designated stock exchange” as defined in the Tax Act (which includes the TSX-V) or (y) the Corporation is 
a “public corporation”, as defined in the Tax Act; 
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 in the case of the Initial Warrants, either (x) such Initial Warrants are listed on a designated stock exchange 
or (y) the following two conditions are met: (a) the Initial Warrant Shares are listed on a designated stock 
exchange, and (b) neither the Corporation, nor any person with whom the Corporation does not deal at arm’s 
length for the purposes of the Tax Act, is an annuitant, a beneficiary, an employer or a subscriber under, or a 
holder of, the particular Deferred Plan; and  

 in the case of the Initial Subscription Receipts either (x) such Initial Subscription Receipts are listed on a 
designated stock exchange or (y) the following three conditions are met: (a) the Initial Unit Shares and Initial 
Warrants are qualified investments for Deferred Plans, (b) neither the Corporation, nor any person with whom 
the Corporation does not deal at arm’s length for the purposes of the Tax Act, is an annuitant, a beneficiary, 
an employer or a subscriber under, or a holder of, the particular Deferred Plan, and (c) the Escrowed Proceeds 
are invested in qualified investments for Deferred Plans. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Initial Subscription Receipt, an Initial Unit Share, an Initial Warrant or an Initial 
Warrant Share held by a Deferred Plan is a “prohibited investment” for purposes of the Tax Act, the holder of the 
TFSA or RDSP, the annuitant of the RRSP or RRIF, or the subscriber of the RESP will be subject to a penalty tax as 
set out in the Tax Act. An Initial Subscription Receipt, an Initial Unit Share, an Initial Warrant or an Initial Warrant 
Share will not be a “prohibited investment” for a particular trust governed by a Deferred Plan provided the annuitant, 
subscriber or holder, as applicable, deals at arm’s length with the Corporation for purposes of the Tax Act and does 
not have a “significant interest” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) in the Corporation. Prospective investors who 
may wish to hold their Initial Subscription Receipts, Initial Unit Shares, Initial Warrants or Initial Warrant Shares in 
a trust governed by a Deferred Plan are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the “prohibited investment” 
rules having regard to their own particular circumstances.  

LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain Canadian legal matters relating to the Offering will be passed upon on behalf of the Corporation by 
McCarthy Tétrault LLP and on behalf of the Underwriters by Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP. As of the date hereof, 
the partners and associates of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, as a group, and the partners and associates of Fasken Martineau 
DuMoulin LLP, as a group, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the outstanding Common Shares. 

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is AST Trust Company (Canada), at its principal offices 
located in Montréal, Province of Québec, Canada. 

INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the auditor of the Corporation was Ernst & Young LLP, Québec City, 
Québec, Canada. Ernst & Young LLP has confirmed that it is independent within the meaning of the Code of Ethics
of the Ordre des Comptables Professionnels Agréés du Québec. 

DJH Accountants Limited have audited the annual consolidated financial Statements of Genesys Holdings Limited 
Group as at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 included in the Financial Statement 
Index appended hereto and have confirmed that they are independent of the Targets in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants’ Code of Ethic for Professional Accountants together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to their audit of the non-statutory consolidated financial statements in the United 
Kingdom.  

AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS 

Lisa Henthorne, Richard A. Hoel and Stephen A. Davis, directors of the Corporation, all reside outside of Canada and 
have appointed H2O Innovation Inc., 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, Province of Québec, 
Canada, G1K 9C5, as agent for service of process. DJH Accountants Limited, auditors for GHL, are incorporated, 
continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction and have appointed H2O Innovation Inc., 
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330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, Québec City, Province of Québec, Canada, G1K 9C5, as agent for service of 
process. 

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or 
resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. 

STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an 
agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt 
of a short form prospectus and any amendment thereto. In several of the provinces of Canada, the securities legislation 
further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages 
if the short form prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, 
provided that the remedies for rescission, revision of the price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the 
time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The purchaser should refer to any 
applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or 
consult with a legal advisor. 

Under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, original purchasers of Subscription Receipts under the Offering will have 
a contractual right of rescission against the Corporation following the issuance of the Units to such purchaser upon 
the exchange of the Subscription Receipts. The contractual right of rescission will entitle original purchasers to receive 
the amount paid for the Subscription Receipts upon surrender of the Subscription Receipts or the Unit Shares and 
Warrants, as applicable, in the event that this short form prospectus (including the documents incorporated by 
reference herein) and any amendment contains a misrepresentation, as such term is defined in the Securities Act 
(Québec), provided that the exchange of the Subscription Receipts takes place within 180 days of the date of the 
purchase of the Subscription Receipts under this short form prospectus, and the right of rescission is exercised within 
180 days of the date of purchase of the Subscription Receipts. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent 
with the statutory right of rescission described under section 217 of the Securities Act (Québec), and is in addition to 
any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 217 of the Securities Act (Québec) or otherwise 
at law. Original purchasers are further advised that in an offering of Subscription Receipts, the statutory right of actions 
for damages for a misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial securities legislation, 
to the price at which the Subscription Receipt is offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, 
under the securities legislation of certain provinces, if the original purchaser pays additional amounts upon exercise 
of the Subscription Receipts, those amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of actions for damages 
that applies in those provinces. Original purchasers should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities 
legislation of the original purchaser’s province of the particulars of this right of action for damages or consult with a 
legal adviser. 

A purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the 
particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 
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The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
  

Results and dividends 

 
The results for the year are set out on page 6. 
 

 

 
Ordinary dividends were paid amounting to £904,840. The directors do not recommend payment of a further dividend. 
 

 

 

Directors 

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as follows: 
 

 

Mr E G Darton  

Mrs U Annunziata  

 

Auditor 

DJH Accountants were appointed as auditor to the group and in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 
2006, a resolution proposing that they be re-appointed will be put at a General Meeting. 
  

Statement of directors' responsibilities 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Under company law the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group 
and company, and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard 1 required that directors: 
 

 properly select and apply accounting policies 

 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information; 

 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s 
financial position and financial performance; and 

 make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 

Strategic report 

The group has chosen in accordance with Companies Act 2006, s. 414C(11) to set out in the group's strategic report 
information required by Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, 
Sch. 7 to be contained in the directors' report. 
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Opinion 
 We have audited the financial statements of Genesys Holdings Limited (the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries 
(the 'group') for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 which comprise the group Income statement, the group 
statement of comprehensive income, the Group statement of financial position, the Company statement of financial 
position, the group statement of changes in equity, the group statement of cash flows and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
  

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 
2017 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB); and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

Basis for opinion 
 We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the non-statutory consolidated financial statements in the 
United Kingdom, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
 We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs require us to report to you 
where: 

 the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
not appropriate; or 

 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the group's or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 
 The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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 2018  2017  

 Notes  £  £  

 

Revenue 2  6,009,160  6,054,623  

Cost of sales  (2,602,048)  (2,621,134) 
 
      Gross profit  3,407,112  3,433,489  

 

Administrative expenses  (1,757,883)  (1,703,342) 

Other operating income  159,856  60,412  

 
      Operating profit 3  1,809,085  1,790,559  

 

Investment revenues 7  31,146  82,305  

Finance costs 8  (74)  -  

Amounts written off investments 9  (251,998)  (237,000) 
 
      Profit before taxation  1,588,159  1,635,864  

 

Income tax expense 10  (291,042)  (271,463) 
 
      Profit for the financial year   1,297,117  1,364,401  

 
      

Profit for the financial year is attributable to:  

- Owners of the parent company  970,784  1,057,352  

- Non-controlling interests  326,333  307,049  

 
       1,297,117  1,364,401  
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 2018  2017 

 £  £ 

 

Profit for the year 1,297,117  1,364,401 
 

Other comprehensive income -  - 
 
     Total comprehensive income for the year  1,297,117  1,364,401 
 
     

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:  

- Owners of the parent company 970,784  1,057,352 

- Non-controlling interests 326,333  307,049 
 
      1,297,117  1,364,401 
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 2018  2017 

 Notes  £  £ 

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 12  1,049,234  1,049,234 

Investments 13  11,896  11,896 
 
     Total non current assets 1,061,130  1,061,130 

  

Current assets  

Inventories 17  28,002  30,000 

Trade and other receivables 18  -  128 

Other investments 19  -  250,000 

Cash and cash equivalents   1,519,791  991,689 
 
     

 Total current assets 

 
 1,547,793  1,271,817 

Total assets    2,608,923  2,332,947 

       

Current liabilities       

Trade and other payables 
20 

 
 

18,976 
 

15,911 

Current tax liabilities    20,103  27,324 

       

Total current liabilities    39,079  43,235 

 
      Total assets less current liabilities  2,569,844  2,289,712 
 
     

Equity  

Called up share capital 22  7,000  7,000 

Retained earnings   2,562,844  2,282,712 
 
     Total equity  2,569,844  2,289,712 
 
     

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own Income statement and related 
notes. The company’s profit for the year was £801,032 (2017 - £893,672 profit). 
  

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 the company was entitled to exemption from 
audit under section 477 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies. 
  

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with 
respect to accounting records and the preparation of financial statements. 
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 Share 
capital 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
controlling 

interest 

Non-
controlling 

interest 

Total  

 Notes £ £ £ £ £  

 

Balance at 1 January 2017  7,000 3,670,574 3,677,574 501,053 4,178,627  

 
            Year ended 31 December 2017:  

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

- 1,057,352 1,057,352 307,049 1,364,401 

 

Dividends 11 -  (528,950) (528,950) (351,616) (880,566) 
 
            Balance at 31 December 2017 7,000 4,198,976 4,205,976 456,486 4,662,462  

 
            Year ended 31 December 2018:  

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year 

 

- 970,784 970,784 326,333 1,297,117 

 

Dividends 11 -  (520,900) (520,900) (383,940) (904,840) 
 
            Balance at 31 December 2018 7,000 4,648,860 4,655,860 398,879 5,054,739  
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 2018  2017  

 Notes £ £ £ £  

 

Cash flows from operating activities  

Cash generated from operations 25  1,868,624  1,422,356  

Interest paid  (74)  -  

Income taxes paid  (291,042)  (271,463) 
 
      Net cash inflow from operating activities  1,577,508  1,150,893  

 

Investing activities  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (19,398)  (30,850)  

Purchase of short term investments  -  (90,000)  

Interest received 10,285  51,329  

Dividends received 20,861  30,976  

 
      Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities 

 

11,748 

 

(38,545) 
 

Financing activities  

Dividends paid to equity shareholders  (520,900)  (528,950)  

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (383,940)  (351,616)  

 
      Net cash used in financing activities  (904,840)  (880,566) 
 
      Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  684,416  231,782  

 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,948,617  1,716,835  

 
      Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  2,633,033  1,948,617  
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Company information 

 Genesys Holdings Limited (“the company”) is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in England 
and Wales. The registered office is 3a Aston way, Middlewich, Cheshire, CW10 0HS. 
 
The group consists of Genesys Holdings Limited Group and all of its subsidiaries. 
  

1.1 Accounting convention 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 

 The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. 
  

 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain 
financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 

 
 

1.2 Basis of consolidation  

 In the parent company financial statements, the cost of a business combination is the fair value at the acquisition 
date of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is recognised as goodwill. The cost of the 
combination includes the estimated amount of contingent consideration that is probable and can be measured 
reliably, and is adjusted for changes in contingent consideration after the acquisition date. Provisional fair 
values recognised for business combinations in previous periods are adjusted retrospectively for final fair values 
determined in the 12 months following the acquisition date. Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. 
 

 

 

  The consolidated financial statements include those of Genesys Holdings Limited Group and all of its 
subsidiaries (i.e. entities that the group controls through its power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain economic benefits).  Subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated using the purchase 
method.  Their results are incorporated from the date that control passes. 
 
All financial statements are made up to 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line 
with those used by other members of the group. 
 
All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 The following subsidiaries have been included in the group financial statements using the purchase method of 
accounting. Accordingly, the group Income statement and statement of cash flows includes the results and 
cash flows of the subsidiaries for the 12 month period and comparative 12 period. The purchase consideration 
has been allocated to the assets and liabilities on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Genesys International Limited 
Genesys Manufacturing Limited 
Genesys North America 

 

 

 Entities other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the group has a participating interest and 
over whose operating and financial policies the group exercises a significant influence, are treated as 
associates. In the group financial statements, associates are accounted for using the equity method. 
 

  

1.3 Going concern 

 At the time of approving the financial statements, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 
  

1.4 Revenue 

 Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The company recognises revenue when it transfers control of 
a product or service to a customer 
 
When cash inflows are deferred and represent a financing arrangement, the fair value of the 

consideration is the present value of the future receipts. The difference between the fair value of the 

consideration and the nominal amount received is recognised as interest income. 

 
 

 

  
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 

the goods have passed to the buyer, which is the point when the sale is agreed with the customer. The 

amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the transaction will flow to the entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably. 
 

  

1.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, 
net of depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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1 Accounting policies  

 

 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their 
useful lives on the following bases: 
 

 

 

 Freehold land and buildings and Goodwill No depreciation 

 Plant and equipment 25% straight line on cost per annum 

 Fixtures and fittings Nil- 25% straight line on cost per annum 

 

 Freehold land and building is not depreciated as the directors believe that the original cost is a true reflection of the 
fair value of the property. 
Certain fixtures and fittings are also not depreciated as the directors believe they are maintained to a state of their 
original cost. 
 

 

 

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and 
the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the Income statement. 
 

 

 

1.6 Fixed asset investments  

 Equity investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss, except for those equity investments that are 
not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot otherwise be measured reliably, which are recognised at cost less 
impairment until a reliable measure of fair value becomes available. 
 
In the parent company financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities 
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
 

 

 

 A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
 

 

 

 An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the company holds a long-term 
interest and where the company has significant influence. The group considers that it has significant influence 
where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate. 
 
Investments in associates are initially recognised at the transaction price (including transaction costs) and are 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the group’s share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and equity of 
the associate using the equity method. Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the share of the fair value 
of the net identifiable assets of the associate on acquisition is recognised as goodwill. Any unamortised balance of 
goodwill is included in the carrying value of the investment in associates. 
 
Losses in excess of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate are recorded as a provision only when 
the company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
In the parent company financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. 
 

 

 

 Entities in which the group has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement are 
classified as jointly controlled entities. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

1.7 Impairment of Non-current assets 

 At each reporting period end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
The carrying amount of the investments accounted for using the equity method is tested for impairment as a 
single asset.  Any goodwill included in the carrying amount of the investment is not tested separately for 
impairment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
  

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 

been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

1.8 Fair value measurement  

 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the company uses observable market data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows. 
 
– Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.      
– Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
– Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
 
The company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred. 
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1.9 Inventories 

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost 
comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
 
Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at the lower of replacement cost 
and cost, adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential. 
  

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred 
in marketing, selling and distribution. 

 

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

 

 
  

1.11 Financial assets 

 Financial assets are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets are classified into specified categories. The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of recognition. 
 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, other than those classified as fair 
value through profit and loss, which are measured at fair value. 
 

 Loans and receivables 

 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market are classified as 'loans and receivables'. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 
 
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
debt instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
  Impairment of financial assets 

 Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end 
date. 
 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected. 
   
Derecognition of financial assets 

 Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity. 
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1 Accounting policies 

  Financial liabilities 

  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other 

financial liabilities. 

  

 Other financial liabilities 

 Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net 

carrying amount on initial recognition. 

  

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are derecognised when the group's contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 
cancelled. 
  

1.12 Equity instruments 

 Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the 

discretion of the company. 

  

1.13 Taxation 

 The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
  

 Current tax 

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 
in the Income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date. 
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1 Accounting policies 

 

 Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 

that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. 

  

1.14 Employee benefits 

 The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are 
required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets. 
 
The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are 
received. 
 
Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed 
to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits. 
  

1.15 Retirement benefits 

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. 
  

1.16 Leases 

 Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to profit or loss 
on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

 

1.17 Grants 

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be 

met and the grants will be received. 

 

 1.18 Foreign exchange 

 Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising 
on translation are included in the Income statement for the period. 
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2 Revenue and other revenue  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Revenue analysed by class of business  

 Manufacturing of chemicals 177,844 189,623  

 Sale of industrial water chemicals 5,689,785 5,745,689  

 Commission received 141,531 119,311  

 
       6,009,160 6,054,623  

 
      

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Other significant revenue  

 Interest income 10,285 51,329  

 Dividends received 20,861 30,976  

 Grants received 159,856 60,412  

 
      

 3 Operating profit  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):  

 

 Exchange losses 407 2,458  

 Government grants  (159,856) (60,412) 

 Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 2,603,608 2,618,774  

 Operating lease charges 37,272 39,724  
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4 Auditor's remuneration  

 2018 2017 

 Fees payable to the company's auditor and associates: £ £ 

 

 For audit services  

 Audit of the financial statements of the group and company 30,000 30,000 
 
     

5 Employees 

 

 The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the group and company during the 
year was: 
  Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 Number Number Number Number 

 

 Administration staff 6 6 - - 

 Operations and manufacturing staff 11 10 - - 
 
          17 16 - - 
 
         

 Their aggregate remuneration comprised: 
  Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Wages and salaries 706,608 688,333 - - 

 Social security costs 223,954 244,472 - - 

 Pension costs 64,062 79,576 - - 
 
          994,624 1,012,381 - - 
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6 Directors' remuneration  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 

 Remuneration for qualifying services 75,210 73,582  

 Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes 19,936 43,098  

        95,146 116,680  

 
 

 
7 Investment income  

 2018 2017 

 £ £ 

 Interest income 

 Bank deposits 5,144 5,008 

 Other interest income 5,141 46,321 
 
      Total interest revenue 10,285 51,329 
 

 Income from fixed asset investments  

 Income from shares in group undertakings 20,861 30,976 
 
      Total income 31,146 82,305 
 
     
Total interest income for financial assets that are not held at fair value through profit or loss is £5,144 (2017 - £5,008). 
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8 Finance costs  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Other finance costs:  

 Other interest 74 -  

 
      

9 Amounts written off investments  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Other gains and losses  (251,998) (237,000) 
 
      

10 Taxation  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 Current tax  

 UK corporation tax on profits for the current period 291,042 271,463  

 
      

 The actual charge for the year can be reconciled to the expected charge for the year based on the profit or loss 
and the standard rate of tax as follows: 
 

 

 

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 

 Profit before taxation 1,588,159 1,635,864  

 
      

 Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 
19.27% (2017: 18.78%) 306,072 307,144 

 

 Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 60,837 47,004  

 Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit  (5,554) (4,730) 

 Capital allowances  (5,551) (7,976) 

 Dividends received from subsidiary  (3,964) (5,962) 

 Additional R&D tax relief  (42,628) (46,715) 

 Patent box claim  (18,170) (17,302) 
 
       Taxation charge 291,042 271,463  
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11 Dividends 

 2018 2017 

 £ £ 

 

 Interim paid- £3.61 per ordinary share (2017 - £3.79 per ordinary share) 25,300 26,550 

 Interim paid- £70.80 per ordinary share (2017 - £71.77 per ordinary share) 495,600 502,400 

 
      

 

12 Property, plant and equipment 

 

 Group Freehold land 
and buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

 Cost 

 At 1 January 2018 1,044,234 165,738 61,644 1,271,616 

 Additions - 9,699 9,699 19,398 
 
          At 31 December 2018 1,044,234 175,437 71,343 1,291,014 
 
          Depreciation    

 At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 - 104,548 56,644 161,192 
 
          Carrying amount 

 At 31 December 2018 1,044,234 70,889 14,699 1,129,822 
 
          At 31 December 2017 1,044,234 61,190 5,000 1,110,424 
 
         

 Company Freehold land 
and buildings 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

Total 

 £ £ £ 

 Cost 

 At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 1,044,234 5,000 1,049,234 
 
        Depreciation    

 At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 - - - 
 
        Carrying amount 

 At 31 December 2018 1,044,234 5,000 1,049,234 
 
        At 31 December 2017 1,044,234 5,000 1,049,234 
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13 Fixed asset investments  

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 Notes £ £ £ £ 

 

 Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 8,220 8,220 

 Investments in associates 15 3,676 3,676 3,676 3,676 
 
          3,676 3,676 11,896 11,896 
 
         

 Movements in fixed asset investments 

 Group Shares in 
group 

undertakings 
and 

participating 
interests 

 £ 

 Cost or valuation 

 At 1 January 2018 3,676 

 Additions - 
 
    At 31 December 2018 3,676 
 
    Carrying amount 

 At 31 December 2018 3,676 
 
    At 31 December 2017 3,676 
 
   

 Movements in fixed asset investments 

 Company Shares in 
group 

undertakings 
and 

participating 
interests 

 £ 

 Cost or valuation 

 At 1 January 2018 11,896 

 Additions - 
 
    At 31 December 2018 11,896 
 
    Carrying amount 

 At 31 December 2018 11,896 
 
    At 31 December 2017 11,896 
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14 Subsidiaries  

 

 Details of the company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: 
 

 

 

 Name of undertaking Registered Nature of business Class of % Held  

 office shares held Direct Indirect 

 

 Genesys International 
Limited 

England and 
Wales 

Industrial water chemical Ordinary C 
shares 75.00 3.60 

 Genesys Manufacturing 
Limited 

England and 
Wales 

Manufacturing of water 
chemicals 

Ordinary G 
shares 72.00 3.60 

 Genesys North America USA Industrial water chemical Ordinary 100.00  

 

15 Associates  

 

 Details of associates at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: 
 

 

 

 Name of undertaking Registered Nature of business Class of % Held  

 office shares held Direct Indirect 

 

 Genesys Membrane 
Products 

Spain Membrane cleaning  

24.00  

 

16 Financial instruments  

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 Carrying amount of financial assets  

 Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1,549,635 1,880,911 - 128 

 Equity instruments measured at cost less 
impairment - 250,000 - 250,000 

 
          Carrying amount of financial liabilities  

 Measured at amortised cost 310,635 536,601 18,976 12,235 
 
         

17 Inventories  

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Finished goods and goods for resale 272,420 204,098 - - 

 Commodities 28,002 30,000 28,002 30,000 
 
          300,422 234,098 28,002 30,000 
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18 Trade and other receivables   

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 Amounts falling due within one year: £ £ £ £ 

 

 Trade receivables 1,516,450 1,799,141 - 128 

 Other receivables 74,806 150,798 - - 

 Prepayments  11,622 11,420 - - 
 
          1,602,878 1,961,359 - 128 
 
         

19 Current asset investments 

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Unlisted investments - 250,000 - 250,000 
 
         

20 Trade and other payables  

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Trade payables  100,034 286,403 - - 

 Other payables 194,931 235,289 13,786 13,786 

 Accruals 15,670 14,909 5,190 2,125 
 
          310,635 536,601 18,976 15,911 
 
         

21 Retirement benefit schemes 

 2018 2017 

 Defined contribution schemes  £ £ 

 

 Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes 64,062 79,576 
 
     

 A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the group in an independently administered fund. 
  

22 Share capital  

 Group and company 

 2018 2017 

 Ordinary share capital £ £ 

 Issued and fully paid 

 7,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each  7,000 7,000 
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23 Operating lease commitments  

 

Lessee  

At the reporting end date the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 
 

 

 

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017  

 £ £ £ £  

 

 Within one year 7,603 6,503 - -  

 Between two and five years 14,536 4,878 - -  

 
           22,139 11,381 - -  

      

Lessor      

 At the reporting end date the company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease rentals under                  
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

 

 

 Group  Company  

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Within one year - - 124,956 124,956 

 Between two and five years                -                -   83,304 208,260 

      

  - - 208,260 333,216 

  

 

 

24 Capital risk management 

 

 The company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

25 Cash generated from group operations  

 2018 2017  

 £ £  

 

 Profit for the year after tax 1,297,117 1,364,401  

 

 Adjustments for:  

 Taxation charged 291,042 271,463  

 Finance costs 74 -  

 Investment income  (31,146) (82,305) 

 Amounts written off investments 251,998 237,000  

 

 Movements in working capital:  

 Increase in inventories  (66,324) (51,686) 

 Decrease/(increase) in debtors 358,481  (181,802) 

 Decrease in creditors  (232,618) (134,715) 
 
       Cash generated from operations 1,868,624 1,422,356  
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26 Related party transactions  

  Remuneration of key management personnel  

 The remuneration of the directors, who are key management personnel, is set out below in aggregate for each 
of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 
 

 

  2018 2017 

 £ £ 

  Short-term employee benefits 136,359 133,158 

 Post-employment benefits 24,625 49,448 
 
      160,984 182,606 
 
     
 Other transactions with related parties 

 During the year the company entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
  

 Sale of goods Purchase of goods 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

 

 Subsidiaries 977,925 973,094 53,551 45,971 

 Key management personnel - - - - 

 Other related parties 255,275 144,916 21,891 24,712 
 
          1,233,200 1,118,010 75,442 70,683 
 
         

 The following amounts were outstanding at the reporting end date: 
  

 2018 2017 

 Amounts due to related parties £ £ 

 

 Subsidiaries 3,122 1,450 

 Key management personnel - - 

 Other related parties - 2,802 
 
      3,122 4,252 
 
     

 The following amounts were outstanding at the reporting end date: 
   2018 2017 

 Amounts due from related parties  £ £ 

 

 Subsidiaries  320,883 339,367 

 Other related parties  51,716 57,591 
 
      372,599 396,958 
 
     

 No guarantees have been given or received. 
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Schedule B 

Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements of Genesys Holdings Limited as at and for the six-month periods 
ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 

(see attached) 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2019. 

Results and dividends 

The results for the year are set out on page 5. 

Ordinary dividends were paid amounting to £114,827. The directors do not recommend payment of a further dividend. 

Directors 

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as follows: 

 
Mr E G Darton 

Mrs U Annunziata 

Auditor 

DJH Accountants were appointed as auditor to the group and in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 
2006, a resolution proposing that they be re-appointed will be put at a General Meeting. 

Statement of directors' responsibilities 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Under company law the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group 
and company, and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard 1 required that directors: 

 

 properly select and apply accounting policies 

 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information; 

 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s 
financial position and financial performance; and 

 make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps 

Strategic report 

The group has chosen in accordance with Companies Act 2006, s. 414C(11) to set out in the group's strategic report 
information required by Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, 
Sch. 7 to be contained in the directors' report. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  2019  2018 

 Notes £  £ 

Revenue 2 3,226,011  3,054,830 

Cost of sales  
(1,526,929) 

 
(1,343,314) 

Gross profit 
 

1,699,082 
 

1,711,516 

Administrative expenses 
 

(797,257)  (847,306) 
Other operating income  

                 - 
 

115,516 

Operating profit 3 
 

901,825 
 

979,726 

Investment income 7 3,014  7,634 

Finance costs 8 (51)  - 
Amounts written off investments 9 

- 
 

(251,998) 

Profit before taxation 
  

904,788 
 

735,362 

Income tax expense 10 
(146,840) 

 
(160,629) 

Profit for the financial period 
  

   757,948 
 

574,733 

 
Profit for the financial period is attributable to: 

- Owners of the parent company  605,774  406,362 

- Non-controlling interests  152,174  168,371 

  757,948  574,733 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

GROUP STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
 2019  2018 

 £  £ 

Profit for the period 757,948 
 

574,733 

Other comprehensive income - 
 

- 

Total comprehensive income for the period 757,948 
 

574,733 

 

Total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to: 

   

- Owners of the parent company 605,774  406,362 

- Non-controlling interests 152,174  168,371 

 
757,948 

 
574,733 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

   
2019 

  
2018 

 Notes £  £ 

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,049,234  1,049,234 

Investments 13 11,896  11,896 

Total non current assets 
 

1,061,130 
 

1,061,130 

Current assets 
    

Inventories 17 -  28,002 

Trade and other receivables 18 301  128 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,543,901  1,287,958 

Total current assets 
 

1,544,202 
 

1,316,088 

Total assets  2,605,332  2,377,218 

Current liabilities 
    

Trade and other payables 19 1,130 
 

3,676 

Current tax liabilities  31,179  47,107 

Total current liabilities 
  

32,309 
 

50,783 

Total assets less current liabilities 
 

2,573,023 
 

2,326,435 

 

Equity 

    

Called up share capital 21 7,000  7,000 

Retained earnings  2,566,023  2,319,435 

Total equity 
 

2,573,023 
 

2,326,435 

 

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own Income Statement and related 
notes. The company’s profit for the period was £77,529 (2018 - £308,323 profit). 

For the financial period ended 30 June 2019 the company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 477 of 
the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies. 

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with 
respect to accounting records and the preparation of financial statements. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
  Share 

capital 

 Retained 
earnings 

Total 
controlling 

interest 

Non- 
controlling 

interest 

Total 

 Notes £  £ £ £ £ 

Balance at 1 January 2018 
 

7,000 
 

4,198,975 4,205,975 456,486 4,662,461 

Period ended 30 June 2018: 
       

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the period 

  
- 

  
406,362 

 
406,362 

 
168,371 

 
574,733 

Dividends 11 -  (271,600) (271,600) (203,380) (474,980) 

Balance at 30 June 2018 
 

7,000 
 

4,333,737 4,340,737 421,477 4,762,214 

 

 

Movement between 1 July 2018 – 
30 June 2019 

  

 

- 

 

 

315,123 

 

 

315,123 

 

 

(22,598) 

 

 

292,523 

 
Balance at 1 January 2019 

  
7,000 

 
4,648,860 

 
4,655,860 

 
398,879 

 
5,054,739 

Period ended 30 June 2019: 
       

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the period 

  
- 

  
605,774 

 
605,774 

 
152,174 

 
757,948 

Dividends 11 -  (74,350) (74,350) (40,477) (114,827) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 
 

7,000 
 

5,180,284 5,187,284 510,576 5,697,860 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  
GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
  2019  2018 

Notes £ £ £  £ 

Cash flows from operating activities 
      

Cash generated from operations 23 816,639   892,945 

Interest paid   (51)       - 

Income taxes paid  (146,840)   (160,629) 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 
 

669,748 
  

732,316 

Investing activities 
      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3,673)  (19,398)   

Interest received   3,014   7,634  

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities 

  
(659) 

   
(11,764) 

Financing activities 
      

Dividends paid to equity shareholders  (74,350) (271,600)  

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests    (40,477) (203,380)  

Net cash used in financing activities 
 

(114,827) 
  

(474,980) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
 

554,262 
  

245,572 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,633,033 1,948,617 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 
 

3,187,295 2,194,189 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
1 Accounting policies 

 
Company information 

 Genesys Holdings Limited (“the company”) is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in England 
and Wales. The registered office is 3a Aston way, Middlewich, Cheshire, CW10 0HS. 

 
The group consists of Genesys Holdings Limited and all of its subsidiaries. 

1.1 Accounting convention 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

  

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary 
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain 
financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 

1.2 Basis of consolidation 

 In the parent company financial statements, the cost of a business combination is the fair value at the acquisition 
date of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is recognised as goodwill. The cost of the 
combination includes the estimated amount of contingent consideration that is probable and can be measured 
reliably, and is adjusted for changes in contingent consideration after the acquisition date. Provisional fair values 
recognised for business combinations in previous periods are adjusted retrospectively for final fair values 
determined in the 12 months following the acquisition date. Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include those of Genesys Holdings Limited and all of its subsidiaries (i.e. 
entities that the group controls through its power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain 
economic benefits). Subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated using the purchase method. Their 
results are incorporated from the date that control passes. 

 
All financial statements are made up to 30 June 2019. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by other members of 
the group. 

 

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
1 Accounting policies 

 
The following subsidiaries have been included in the group financial statements using the purchase method of 
accounting. Accordingly, the group Income statement and statement of cash flows includes the results and 
cash flows of the subsidiaries for the 12 month period and comparative 12 period. The purchase consideration 
has been allocated to the assets and liabilities on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisition. 

 
Genesys International Limited 
Genesys Manufacturing Limited 
Genesys North America 
 

  
Entities other than subsidiary undertakings or joint ventures, in which the group has a participating interest and 
over whose operating and financial policies the group exercises a significant influence, are treated as 
associates. In the group financial statements, associates are accounted for using the equity method. 

 

1.3 
 

Going concern 

 At the time of approving the financial statements, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus the directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. 

1.4 Revenue 

 Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The company recognises revenue when it transfers control of 
a product or service to a customer 

 

When cash inflows are deferred and represent a financing arrangement, the fair value of the 

consideration is the present value of the future receipts. The difference between the fair value of the 

consideration and the nominal amount received is recognised as interest income. 

 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 

the goods have passed to the buyer, which is the point when the sale is agreed with the customer. The 

amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the transaction will flow to the entity and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably. 

 
1.5 

 
Property, plant and equipment 

 Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, 
net of depreciation and any impairment losses. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
1 Accounting policies  

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their 
useful lives on the following bases: 

 
Freehold land and buildings & 
Goodwill 

No depreciation 

 Plant and equipment 25% straight line on cost per annum 

 Fixtures and fittings Nil- 25% straight line on cost per annum 

Freehold land and building is not depreciated as the directors believe that the original cost is a true reflection of the 
fair value of the property. 
Certain fixtures and fittings are also not depreciated as the directors believe they are maintained to a state of their 
original cost. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and 
the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the Income statement. 

1.6 Fixed asset investments 
 

 Equity investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss, except for those equity investments that are 
not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot otherwise be measured reliably, which are recognised at cost less 
impairment until a reliable measure of fair value becomes available. 

 
In the parent company financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities 
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

 
An associate is an entity, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, in which the company holds a long-term 
interest and where the company has significant influence. The group considers that it has significant influence 
where it has the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of the associate. 

 
Investments in associates are initially recognised at the transaction price (including transaction costs) and are 
subsequently adjusted to reflect the group’s share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive income and equity of 
the associate using the equity method. Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the share of the fair value 
of the net identifiable assets of the associate on acquisition is recognised as goodwill. Any unamortised balance of 
goodwill is included in the carrying value of the investment in associates. 

 
Losses in excess of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate are recorded as a provision only when 
the company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 
In the parent company financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost less impairment. 

  

Entities in which the group has a long term interest and shares control under a contractual arrangement are 
classified as jointly controlled entities. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1 

 
 

Accounting policies 

1.7 Impairment of Non-current assets 

 At each reporting period end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 

The carrying amount of the investments accounted for using the equity method is tested for impairment as a 
single asset. Any goodwill included in the carrying amount of the investment is not tested separately for 
impairment. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 

been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 

case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

1.8 Fair value measurement 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the company uses observable market data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows. 

 
– Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
– Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
– Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

 

The company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1.9 

 
 

Inventories 

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost 
comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

 
Inventories held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at the lower of replacement cost 
and cost, adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential. 

 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred 
in marketing, selling and distribution. 

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

1.11 Financial assets 

 Financial assets are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
Financial assets are classified into specified categories. The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of recognition. 

 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, other than those classified as fair 
value through profit and loss, which are measured at fair value. 

  

Loans and receivables 

 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market are classified as 'loans and receivables'. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

 
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
debt instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 Impairment of financial assets 

 Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end 
date. 

 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected. 

 
Derecognition of financial assets 

 Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
 

 
1 

 
Accounting policies 

 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other 

financial liabilities. 

 
Other financial liabilities 

 Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net 

carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are derecognised when the group's contractual obligations expire or are discharged or 
cancelled. 

1.12 Equity instruments 

 Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the 

discretion of the company. 

1.13 Taxation 

 The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 
Current tax 

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 
in the Income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date. 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
1 Accounting policies 

  
Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 

that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. 

1.14 Employee benefits 

 The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are 
required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or non-current assets. 

 
The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are 
received. 

 

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demonstrably committed 
to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits. 

1.15 Retirement benefits 

 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

1.16 Leases 

 Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to profit or loss 
on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

 
1.17 

 
Grants 

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be 

met and the grants will be received. 

 

1.18 
 

Foreign exchange 

 Transactions in currencies other than pounds sterling are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At each reporting end date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses arising 
on translation are included in the Income statement for the period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. 



 

GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
2 Revenue and other revenue   

  2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 Revenue analysed by class of business   

 Manufacturing of chemicals 97,400 100,648 

 Sale of industrial water chemicals 3,060,251 2,927,005 

 Commission received 68,360 27,177 

   

3,226,011 
 

3,054,830 

   
2019 

 
2018 

  £ £ 

 Other significant revenue   

 Interest income 3,014 3,227 

 Grants received - 115,516 

 
 

3 

 
 

Operating profit 

  

  2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 Operating profit for the period is stated after charging/(crediting):   

 
Exchange losses 

 

953 
 

1,474 

 Government grants - (159,856) 

 Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 1,525,976 1,343,314 

 Operating lease charges 37,272 39,724 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 
4 Auditor's remuneration       

     2019  2018 

 Fees payable to the company's auditor and associates:   £  £ 

 
For audit services 

      

 Audit of the financial statements of the group and company   15,000  15,000 

 

5 

 

Employees 

      

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the group and company during the 
year was: 

  Group   Company   

  2019 2018  2019  2018 

  Number Number  Number  Number 

 
Administration staff 6 6 

 
- 
 

- 

 Operations and manufacturing staff 11 10  -  - 

  
17 16 

 
- 
 

- 

  

Their aggregate remuneration comprised: 

      

  Group   Company   

  2019 2018  2019  2018 

  £ £  £  £ 

 
Wages and salaries 364,718 313,172 

 
- 
 

- 

 Social security costs 44,366 42,642  -  - 

 Pension costs 33,490 20,053  -  - 

  
442,574 375,687 

 
- 
 

- 

 

 

6 Directors' remuneration 

2019 2018 

£ £ 

 
Remuneration for qualifying services 31,210 31,210 

Company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes  -  - 
  

 
 31,210 31,210 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20.



GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
7 Investment income    

  2019  2018 

  £  £ 

 Interest income    

 Bank deposits 3,014  3,227 

 Other interest income -  4,407 

 
Total interest revenue 3,014 

 
7,634 

 
Income from fixed asset investments 

   

 Income from shares in group undertakings -  - 

 
Total income 3,014 

 
7,634 

 

Total interest income for financial assets that are not held at fair value through profit or loss is £3,014 (2018: £7,634). 
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GENESYS HOLDINGS LIMITED  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 

 

 

 

 
8 Finance costs   

  2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 Other finance costs:   

 Other interest 51 - 

 

9 

 

Amounts written off investments 

  

  2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 Other gains and losses - (251,998) 

 

10 

 

Taxation 

  

  2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 Current tax   

 UK corporation tax on profits for the current period 146,840 160,629 

  

The actual charge for the year can be reconciled to the expected charge for the year based on the profit or loss 
and the standard rate of tax as follows: 

  
2019 2018 

  £ £ 

 
Profit before taxation 904,788   735,362 

  

Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 
18.94% (2018: 26.47%) 

 

 

171,395 

 

 

194,680 

 Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 7,364 1,284 

 Tax effect of income not taxable in determining taxable profit (1,521) - 

 Capital allowances - (3,690) 

 Additional R&D tax relief (21,314) (23,095) 

 Patent box claim (9,084) (8,550) 

 
Taxation charge 146,840 160,629 
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11 Dividends       

     2019  2018 

     £  £ 

 
Interim paid- £10.62 per ordinary share (2018- £38.80 per ordinary share) 

  
74,350 

 
271,600 

 

 
 

12 

 

 
 

Property, plant and equipment 

      

 
Group Freehold land 

and buildings 
Plant and 

equipment 

 
Fixtures and 

fittings 

 
Total 

  £ £  £  £ 

 Cost       

 At 1 January 2019 1,044,234 175,437  71,343  1,291,014 

 Additions - 3,673  -  3,673 

 
At 30 June 2019 

 

1,044,234 179,110 
 

71,343 
 

1,294,687 

 
Depreciation 

 

     

 At 1 January 2019 and 30 June 2019 - 104,548  56,644  161,192 

 
Carrying amount 

 

     

 At 30 June 2019 1,044,234 74,562  14,699  1,133,495 

 
At 30 June 2018 1,044,234 70,889 

 
14,699 

 
1,129,822 

  

 

 

 
Company 

 

 

 

 

Freehold land 
and buildings 

 

 

 

 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

  

 

 

 

Total 

   £  £  £ 

 Cost       

 At 1 January 2019 and 30 June 2019 1,044,234 5,000  1,049,234 

 
Depreciation and impairment 

      

 At 1 January 2019 and 30 June 2019  -  -  - 

 
Carrying amount 

      

 At 30 June 2019 1,044,234     5,000  1,049,234 

 
At 30 June 2018 1,044,234     5,000 

 
1,049,234 
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13 Fixed asset investments   

Group 

   
Company 

 

  2019  2018 2019 2018 

 Notes £  £ £ £ 

Investments in subsidiaries 14 - 
 

- 8,220 8,220 

Investments in associates 15 3,676  3,676 3,676 3,676 

  
3,676 

 
3,676 11,896 11,896 

 

Movements in fixed asset investments 

      

Group      Shares in 
group 

undertakings 
and 

participating 
interests 

      £ 

Cost or valuation       

At 1 January 2019      3,676 

At 30 June 2019 
     

3,676 

Carrying amount 
      

At 30 June 2019      3,676 

At 30 June 2018 
     

3,676 

 

Movements in fixed asset investments 

      

Company      Shares in 
group 

undertakings 
and 

participating 
interests 

      £ 

Cost or valuation       

At 1 January 2019      11,896 

At 30 June 2019 
     

11,896 

Carrying amount 
      

At 30 June 2019      11,896 

At 30 June 2018 
     

11,896 
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14 Subsidiaries 

 
Details of the company's subsidiaries at 30 June 2019 are as follows: 

 
Name of undertaking Registered Nature of business Class of  % Held 

office  shares held Direct Indirect 
 

Genesys International 
Limited 

England and 
Wales 

Industrial water chemical Ordinary C 
shares 75.00 3.60 

Genesys Manufacturing 
Limited 

England and 
Wales 

Manufacturing of water 
chemicals 

Ordinary G 
shares 72.00 3.60 

Genesys North America USA Industrial water chemical Ordinary 100.00 

 
15 Associates 

 
Details of associates at 30 June 2019 are as follows: 

 
Name of undertaking Registered Nature of business Class of  % Held 

office  shares held Direct Indirect 
 

Genesys Membrane 
Products 

Spain Membrane cleaning  
24.00 

 

16 Financial instruments 

 
 

 
Carrying amount of financial assets 

 

Group Company 

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£ £ £ £ 

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1,556,785 1,805,260 - - 

Equity instruments measured at cost less 
impairment - - - - 

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 

Measured at amortised cost 601,778 696,519 32,309 50,783 

 

17 Inventories  

Group Company 

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£ £ £ £ 
 

Finished goods and goods for resale 373,884 274,535 -  - 

Commodities  -  28,002 - 28,002 

373,884 302,537 - 28,002 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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18 Trade and other receivables       

  Group   Company   

  2019 2018  2019  2018 

 Amounts falling due within one year: £ £  £  £ 

 
Trade receivables 1,479,820 1,714,294 

 
1 

 
128 

 Other receivables 77,045 76,580  300  - 

 Prepayments 21,174 14,386  -  - 

  
1,578,039 1,805,260 

 
301 

 
128 

 

19 

 

Trade and other payables 

      

  Group   Company   

  2019 2018  2019  2018 

  £ £  £  £ 

 
Trade payables 265,569 214,654 

 
- 
 

- 

 Other payables 1,558 55,271  -  - 

 Accruals 8,760 4,985  1,130  3,676 

  
275,887 274,910 

 
1,130 

 
3,676 

 

20 

 

Retirement benefit schemes 

      

     2019  2018 

 Defined contribution schemes    £  £ 

 
Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes 

  
33,490 

 
20,053 

 

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the group in an independently administered fund. 

21 Share capital 
      

     Group and company 

     2019  2018 

 Ordinary share capital    £  £ 

 Issued and fully paid       

 7,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each    7,000  7,000 
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22 Operating lease commitments 

 
Lessee 

At the reporting end date the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- 
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

 
 Group    Company  

2019  2018  2019  2018 

£  £  £  £ 

Within one year 7,603 
 

7,603 
 

- 
 

- 

Between two and five years 10,735  18,337  -  - 

 
18,338 

 
25,940 

 
- 
 

- 

 
Lessor 

At the reporting end date the company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease rentals under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

 
 Group  Company  

2019 2018 2019 2018 

£ £ £ £ 

 
Within one year - - 124,956 124,956 

 Between two and five years   -   - 20,826 145,782 

  
- - 145,782 270,738 

 

23 
 

Cash generated from group operations 
    

    2019 2018 

    £ £ 

 
Profit for the year after tax 

  
757,948 574,733 

 
Adjustments for: 

    

 Taxation charged   146,840 160,629 

 Finance costs   51 - 

 Investment income   (3,014) (7,634) 

 Amounts written off investments   - 251,998 

 
Movements in working capital: 

    

 Increase in inventories   (73,462) (68,439) 

 Decrease/(increase) in debtors   24,839 156,098 

 Decrease in creditors   (36,563) (174,440) 

 
Cash generated from operations 

  
816,639 892,945 
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F-4 

Schedule C 

H2O Innovation’s Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for the year ended June 30, 2019 

(see attached) 



UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF H2O 

INNOVATION 

 

 

(1) The balance sheet items of Genesys as at June 30, 2019 were converted using an exchange rate of 1 GBP = 1.6624 CAD, which 

represents the daily exchange rate of the Bank of Canada as at June 30, 2019. Please refer to Note 2 for more information on 

exchange rate conversion. 

(In thousands of Canadian dollars)

H2O Innovation 

Inc.
Genesys 

(1) Pro forma 

Adjustments
Notes

Pro forma 

Consolidated

$ $ $ $

ASSETS

Current assets

   Cash                   6,206                5,299               (5,299)  3 c)                6,206 

   Guaranteed deposits certificates                        21                     -                       -                       21 

   Accounts receivable                  19,440                2,623                     21  3 a)               22,084 

   Inventories                   6,739                   622                      4  3 a)                 7,365 

   Contract assets                   5,880                     -                       -                  5,880 

   Income taxes receivable                        69                     -                       -                       69 

   Prepaid expenses                      768                     -                       -                     768 

                 39,123                8,544               (5,274)              42,393 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment                   6,552                1,884                     15  3 a)                 8,451 

Intangible assets                  21,967                     39                6,300  3 a)               28,306 

Other assets                      234                      6                     -    3 a)                    240 

Related party loans receivable                   1,250                     -                       -                  1,250 

Goodwill                  15,727                     -                19,233  3 a)               34,960 

Deferred income tax assets                      144                     -                       -                     144 

                 84,997              10,473              20,274            115,744 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

   Bank loans                   7,545                     -                 (2,735)  3 c) iii.                4,810 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                  12,264                1,000                      8  3 a)               13,272 

   Provisions                      137                     -                       -                     137 

   Contract liabilities                   3,111                     -                       -                  3,111 

   Contingent consideration                   1,361                     -                       -                  1,361 

   Deferred income tax liabilities                        -                       -                  1,134  3 a)                 1,134 

   Current portion of long-term debt                   1,863                     -                  1,125  3 d)                2,988 

                 26,281                1,000                 (468)              26,813 

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt                   6,578                     -                10,605  3 d)              17,183 

Deferred rent                      137                     -                       -                     137 

Contingent consideration                   1,142                     -                       -                  1,142 

                 34,138                1,000              10,137              45,275 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital                  89,057                     12              17,580  3 e) i.            106,649 

Non-controlling interests                        -                     849                 (849)  3 e) ii.                     -   

Reserve - Stock options                   3,250                     -                       -                  3,250 

Reserve - Warrants                      167                     -                  3,014  3 e) i.                3,181 

Retained earnings (deficit)                (44,084)                8,612               (9,608)  3 e) iii.             (45,080)

Accumulated other comprehensive income                   2,469                     -                       -                  2,469 

                 50,859                9,473              10,137              70,469 

                 84,997              10,473              20,274            115,744 

As at June 30, 2019

H2O INNOVATION INC.

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION



 

 

(1) The statement of income items of Genesys for the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019 were converted using an exchange 

rate of 1 GBP = 1.7135 CAD, which represents the average daily exchange rate of the Bank of Canada for the twelve-month 

period ended June 30, 2019. Please refer to Note 2 for more information on exchange rate conversion.   

H2O Innovation 

Inc.
Genesys 

(1) Pro forma 

Adjustments
Notes

Pro forma 

Consolidated

$ $ $ $

Revenues                117,958              10,666                     -              128,624 

Cost of goods sold                  90,840                4,773                     -                95,613 

Gross profit before depreciation and amortization                  27,118                5,893                     -                33,011 

General operating expenses                   5,693                     -                       -                  5,693 

Selling expenses                   7,743                     -                       -                  7,743 

Administrative expenses                   6,989                2,926                 (149)  3 f) v.                9,766 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                   1,349                     -                     224  3 f) iii.                1,573 

Amortization of intangible assets                   3,976                     -                     630  3 f) ii.                4,606 

Other losses – net                      258                     -                       -                     258 

Acquisition costs, integration costs and other costs                      797                     -                     149  3 f) v.                   946 

Operating costs total                  26,805                2,926                   854              30,585 

Income (loss) before finance costs - net and income taxes                      313                2,967                 (854)                2,426 

Finance income                       (48)                   (45)                     -                     (93)

Finance costs                   2,119                     -                     500  3 d)                2,619 

Finance costs – net                   2,071                   (45)                   500                2,526 

Earnings (Loss) before income taxes                  (1,758)                3,012               (1,354)                 (100)

Current income tax expense                      147                   475                     -                     622 

Deferred tax expense (recovery)                      275                     -                   (113)  3 a)                   162 

                     422                   475                 (113)                   784 

Net earnings (loss) for the year                  (2,180)                2,537               (1,241)                 (884)

Basic and diluted net loss per share                  (0.044)               (0.013)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding           49,289,706        20,952,381  3 f) iv.        70,242,087 

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF (LOSS) INCOME

For the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2019

 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

H2O INNOVATION INC.



NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(all amounts in CDN dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 

(unaudited) 

 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF GENESYS 

H2O Innovation Inc. (“H2O Innovation” or the “Corporation”) is incorporated under the Canada Business  

Corporations Act. The Corporation designs and provides state-of-the-art, custom-built, and integrated water 

treatment solutions based on membrane filtration technology for municipal, energy and natural resources 

end-users. The registered office of the Corporation is located at 330 Saint-Vallier Street East, Suite 340, 

Quebec City, Quebec, G1K 9C5, Canada. 

 

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements (the "pro forma financial statements") 

give effect to the proposed acquisition (the “Acquisition”) by H2O Innovation of Genesys Holdings 

Limited, Genesys Manufacturing Limited, Genesys International Limited and Genesys North America, 

LLC (collectively “Genesys”), a group of privately-owned companies based in the United Kingdom that 

develop, manufacture and distribute speciality reverse osmosis (RO) membrane chemicals, antiscalants, 

cleaners, flocculants and biocides. The purchase price of the Acquisition is established at £16.95 M 

($28.39 M) (the “Purchase Price”), on a cash-free, debt-free basis. The Purchase Price of the Acquisition 

will be paid in full as of the closing date of the Acquisition (the “Closing Date”) and is subject to usual 

working capital adjustments as of the Closing Date. The Corporation expects to finance the Purchase Price 

and the costs of the Acquisition through a combination of 1) a new Term Loan drawn under the Amended 

and Restated Credit Agreement; 2) the net proceeds of this Offering (assuming no exercise of the Over 

Allotment Option); and 3) the net proceeds of the Concurrent Private Placement (collectively, the 

“Financing”). 

 

All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the short form prospectus.  

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

The pro forma financial statements are based on the Corporation’s historical consolidated financial 

statements and Genesys’ historical consolidated financial statements as adjusted to give effect to the 

Acquisition and the Financing. 

 

The assumptions and estimates underlying the unaudited adjustments to the pro forma financial statements 

are described in the accompanying notes, which are an integral part of the pro forma financial statements 

and should be read together with the pro forma financial statements. These pro forma financial statements 

have been prepared by Management of the Corporation on a consistent basis with those disclosed in Note 

2 of the Corporation’s audited annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended June 

30, 2019. The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based upon available information and certain 

assumptions that the Management believes are reasonable in the circumstances. The pro forma financial 

statements are presented for illustrative purposes only.  
 

The pro forma financial statements have been prepared as if the Acquisition and the Financing had occurred 

on July 1, 2018 for the purpose of the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of (loss) income for the 

year ended June 30, 2019, and as if the Acquisition and the Financing had occurred on June 30, 2019 for 

the purpose of the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position  as at June 30, 2019. 

  

The pro forma financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the financial position and results of 

operations that would have been achieved if the Acquisition and the Financing had been completed on 



those dates or for the periods presented, nor do they claim to project the results of operations or financial 

position of the consolidated entities for any future period or as of any future date. 

 

The pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared from information derived from, and 

should be read in conjunction with the following:  

   

a) The audited annual consolidated financial statements of H2O Innovation, together with the notes 

thereto, as at and for the year ended June 30, 2019;  

  

b) The audited annual consolidated financial statements of Genesys, together with the notes thereto, as 

at and for the year ended December 31, 2018; and 

 

c) The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Genesys, together with the notes thereto, 

as at and for the six-month period ended June 30, 2019. 

  

The unaudited consolidated statement of income of Genesys for the twelve-month period ended 

June 30, 2019 was constructed by adding the unaudited interim consolidated statement of income for the 

six-month period ended June 30, 2019 with the audited annual consolidated statement of income of Genesys 

for the year ended December 31, 2018 less the unaudited interim consolidated statement of income for the 

six-month period ended June 30, 2018.  

 

The financial information of Genesys has been converted into Canadian dollars, using the following British 

pound (GBP)/Canadian dollar (CAD) exchange rates:  

 The consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019 was converted using an exchange 

rate of 1 GBP = 1.6624 CAD, which represents the exchange rate of the Bank of Canada as at June 

30, 2019; 

 The consolidated statement of income for the year ended June 30, 2019 was converted using an 

exchange rate of 1 GBP = 1.7135 CAD, which represents the average exchange rate of the Bank of 

Canada for the twelve months ended June 30, 2019; and  

 Pro forma adjustments, as well as net assets acquired and consideration to be paid at closing of the 

Acquisition were converted using an exchange rate of 1 GBP = 1.6753 CAD which represents the 

exchange rate of the Bank of Canada on October 25, 2019, the day prior to the announcement of the 

Acquisition. 

 

All dollar figures in Canadian dollars, except as otherwise noted. 

 

The historical financial information of the Corporation and Genesys were presented in accordance with 

IFRS as issued by the IASB. In preparing the pro forma financial statements, Management conducted a 

preliminary review of Genesys’ accounting policies and believes that the significant accounting policies of 

H2O Innovation and Genesys are consistent in all material respects, except for items noted in Note 3 below. 

Additional accounting policy differences may be identified by the time that H2O Innovation includes 

Genesys in its own financial reporting processes.  
 
The historical financial statements have been adjusted in the pro forma financial statements to give effect 

to pro forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the business combination, (2) factually supportable 

and (3) with respect to the pro forma consolidated statements of earnings, expected to have a continuing 

impact on the combined results following the business combination. Accordingly, the pro forma financial 

information does not reflect the realization of any expected cost savings or other synergies from the 

Acquisition of Genesys as a result of restructuring activities and other cost savings initiatives. Although 

the Corporation believes that cost savings and other synergies will be realized following the business 



combination, there can be no assurance on the amount of cost savings or any other synergies that will be 

achieved. 

 

The pro forma adjustments and the purchase price allocation, as set out in Note 3, are preliminary and have 

been prepared based on available financial information at this time, and accordingly are subject to material 

changes. Management’s best estimates and assumptions were used, which provide a reasonable basis for 

presenting the significant financial effects directly attributable to the Acquisition and the Financing. 

Management believes that the pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those estimates and 

assumptions and are properly applied to the pro forma financial statements. The unaudited pro forma 

consolidated financial information will differ from the final Acquisition accounting for a number of 

reasons, including the fact that the estimates of fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are preliminary 

and subject to change when the formal valuation and other studies are finalized. Also, the definitive 

determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed will occur on the date of 

Acquisition, which will also have an impact on the final Acquisition accounting, and ultimately on 

goodwill. The differences that will occur between the preliminary estimates and the final Acquisition 

accounting could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated financial 

information.  
 
 

  



3. PRO FORMA ASSUMPTIONS AND ADJUSTMENTS  

In the preparation of the pro forma financial statements, the following significant assumptions and 

adjustments have been made: 

 

a) Purchase Price Allocation 

 

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Corporation will apply the acquisition 

method in accounting for the Genesys Acquisition. All identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed are to be recorded at their acquisition-date estimated fair values, which are based on 

preliminary estimates and are subject to final valuation adjustments. The excess of the Purchase 

Price over net identifiable assets acquired will be allocated to goodwill.  

 

For the purposes of the pro forma financial statements, except for intangible assets and the related 

tax effects, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are presumed to be their carrying 

value in the historical financial statements of Genesys as at June 30, 2019. As a result, actual fair 

values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and related operating results, including actual 

depreciation and amortization expense, could differ materially from those reflected in these pro 

forma consolidated financial statements.   

 

The following table reflects the effect of Genesys’ preliminary Purchase Price determination. 

  

 Preliminary 

  (In thousands $) 

Assets acquired  
Cash -  

Accounts Receivable         2,644  

Inventories             626 

Property, plant and equipment          1,899  

Intangible assets 39 

Other assets            6 

Intangible assets acquired (2) 6,300 

  
Liabilities assumed  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities         (1,008) 

Deferred tax liability (1) (1,134) 

Identifiable net assets acquired          9,372 

  
Goodwill arising on Acquisition 19,233 

Purchase price consideration 28,605 

 

 
(1) The deferred tax liability recorded in conjunction with the fair value of the intangible assets as a result of the Purchase 

Price determination for the Acquisition is $1.13 M and was based on an estimated effective tax rate of approximately 

18.0%.  
(2) The fair value of intangible assets acquired is preliminary and based on Management’s best estimates. For the purpose 

of the pro forma, Management has identified and recognized customer relationships as at Acquisition date. Management 

has not yet recognised other intangible assets that could be identified pursuant to the Acquisition, such as non-compete 

agreements and patents. The assigned useful life to customer relationships has been estimated to be 10 years. 

 



 

b) Financing of the Acquisition 
 

The Purchase Price was established at £16.95 M ($28.39 M) on a cash-free, debt-free basis. The 

Purchase Price will be paid fully at the closing date and is subject to customary working capital 

adjustments as of the closing date. 

The Acquisition’s Purchase Price is being partially financed by the Public Offering of 13,335,000 

Subscription Receipts, each of which will entitle the holder thereof to receive, upon the Acquisition 

Closing, one Unit comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one common share purchase 

warrant (each whole common share purchase warrant, a “Warrant”). Each Initial Warrant will 

entitle its holder to purchase one Common Share (a “Warrant Share”), at a price of $1.40 per 

Warrant Share. The Subscription Receipts will be issued at a price of $1.05 per Subscription 

Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $14.00 M. The net proceeds to H2O 

Innovation will be approximately $13.00 M after deducting the Underwriters’ Commission and 

other transaction costs of approximately $1.00 M. H2O Innovation has granted the Underwriters an 

over-allotment option to purchase up to an additional 952,380 Subscription Receipts at a price of 

$1.05 per Subscription Receipt, representing maximum additional gross proceeds of approximately 

$1.00 M. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position does not reflect the 

exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. 

The Acquisition’s Purchase Price is also being partially financed by the Concurrent Private 

Placement. The Corporation and the Co-Lead Underwriters will enter into a subscription agreement 

with certain institutional shareholders to issue on a private placement basis 7,647,619 Subscription 

Receipts concurrently with the closing of the Offering for aggregate gross proceeds of 

approximately $8.00 M. The net proceeds to H2O Innovation will be approximately $7.50 M after 

deducting the Underwriters’ Commission and other transaction costs of approximately $0.50 M. 

The Acquisition’s Purchase Price is also being partially financed by such amount needed to be 

drawn on the Term Loan made available in an amount of $12.00 M to H2O UK under the Amended 

and Restated Credit Agreement of the Corporation entered into on October 28, 2019 with National 

Bank of Canada as lender. Financing fees of $0.27 M related to the Amended and Restated Credit 

Agreement will be netted against the Term Loan. The Term Loan shall be reimbursed by the 

Corporation by way of quarterly installment based on annual amortization of 12.5 % of the 

principal amount. The first instalment shall be due on December 31, 2019.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Financing of the Acquisition: 

  Amount 

  (In thousands $) 

Purchase price - payable at Acquisition date  28,391  

Working capital adjustment payable  214 

Aggregate Purchase Price  28,605 
   

Financing   
Subscription Receipts  14,002  

Concurrent Private Placement  8,030 

Term Loan  12,000  

Financing costs, Share and Warrant issuance costs and transaction costs  (2,692) 

Total financing (net of financing, share issuance and    

transaction costs)  31,340  

   

Surplus allocated to the reduction of the Corporation’s line of 

credit (3 c) iii.)  2,735 

 

c) Net adjustments to cash 

Net adjustments to cash comprise adjustments related to: 

  Amount 

 Notes (In thousands $) 

   

Subscription Receipts 3 b) 14,002  

Concurrent Private Placement 3 b) 8,030 

Term Loan 3 b) 12,000 

Acquisition of Genesys 3 b) (28,391) 

Share and Warrant issuance costs (i) (iv)                        (1,426) 

Transaction costs (i)                        (996) 

Financing costs (i)                          (270) 

Working capital adjustment payable                          (214) 

Movement in cash acquired (ii)  (5,299) 

Reduction of the Corporation’s line of credit (iii) 3 b) (2,735) 

  (5,299) 
 

i. For the pro forma purposes, acquisition-related costs, transaction costs and financing costs 

were assumed to be paid at the Acquisition closing. 

 

ii. Movement in cash acquired relates to (i) that certain level of cash that must be left in the 

Genesys’ bank account for working capital purposes and (ii) the cash surplus that shall 

remain to the Sellers considering the cash-free, debt-free basis of the transaction, the whole 

as described in the share purchase agreement with the vendors. 
 

iii. If any amount is remaining after the payment of the Purchase Price of the Acquisition from 

the net proceeds of the Offering, the net proceeds of the Concurrent Private Placement and 

such amount needed to be drawn on the Term Loan made available in an amount of 

$12.00 M, the payment of the expenses related to the Acquisition, estimated to be of 



approximately $1.00 M, and the payment of the Offering and Concurrent Private 

Placement expenses, the Corporation intends to reduce the outstanding line of credit in 

place for working capital purposes of the Corporation in an amount of $2.74 M. See Use 

of Proceeds Section in the short form prospectus.  

 

iv. These costs exclude commissions paid in warrants as they are non-cash issuance costs. 

 

d) Net adjustments to long-term debt 

Net adjustments to long-term debt comprise adjustments related to: 

  Amount 

 Notes (In thousands $) 

   
Term Loan 3 b) 12,000  

Financing costs  3 b) (270) 

    11,730  

   

Current portion of long-term debt  1,125 

Long-term debt  10,605 

  11,730 

 

For the year ended June 30, 2019, the effect of the borrowings under the Term Loan made available 

under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement on the pro forma statements of (loss) income 

amounted to $0.50 M in finance costs. 

 

e) Net adjustments to equity 

 

i. Net adjustments to share capital comprise adjustments related to: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(1) The Corporation allocated the proceeds from the issuance of Subscription Receipts and Concurrent Private 

Placement using the residual value method, which allocated the fair value to the Warrants, determined using 

the Black-Scholes pricing model, and the residual of the proceeds to share capital. 

 

ii. Net adjustments to equity comprise adjustments related to: 

 

 

  Amount 

  (In thousands $) 

   
Subscription Receipts   14,002 

Concurrent Private Placement  8,030 

Share and Warrant issuance costs  (1,426) 

Fair value assigned to issued Warrants(1)   (3,014) 

Elimination of Genesys' share capital  (12) 

    17,580  

  Amount 

   (In thousands $) 

Elimination of Genesys' Non-controlling interests  (849) 

    (849)  



iii. Net adjustments to retained earnings comprise adjustments related to: 

 

 

f) Additional adjustments 

 

i. Potential cost synergies have not been included in the unaudited pro forma consolidated 

statement of earnings. Consistent with rules for preparation of pro forma financial statements 

as set out in National Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations, in order for 

synergies to be included, they must be substantiated with firm commitments and be objectively 

determinable. 

 

ii. For the purpose of the preliminary Purchase Price determination, fair value adjustments were 

recognized on certain intangible assets. The amortization expense has been adjusted to record 

the additional amortization of intangible assets acquired as a result of the Purchase Price 

determination (see Note 3(a)). The additional amortization expense for the twelve months 

ended June 30, 2019 amounted to $0.63 M. 

 

iii. The accounting policy of the Property, plant and equipment of Genesys has been changed to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by H2O Innovation. For the twelve months period 

ended June 30, 2019, an additional amount of depreciation expenses of $0.22 M has been 

recorded. 

 

iv. The basic and diluted net loss per H2O Innovation Common Share has been calculated based 

on the following basic and diluted weighted average number of H2O Innovation Common 

Shares outstanding adjusted as follows:  

 

 Period ended  

(number of shares, except per share amount) June 30, 2019 

  
Historical weighted average number of H2O Innovation Common 

Shares outstanding              49,289,706  

Common Shares to be issued for the Acquisition (1)              20,952,381  

Pro forma weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding              70,242,087  

  
Pro forma net loss per share  $(0.013) 

(1) Number of Common Shares issued is based on an offering price of $1.05 per Subscription Receipt. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Amount 

   (In thousands $) 

   
Elimination of Genesys' retained earnings   (8,612)  

Payment of acquisition-related costs  (996) 

    (9,608)  



v. The following administrative expenses incurred in the last twelve months by Genesys related 

to divestiture have been reclassified into the Acquisition costs: 

 

  Amount 

  (In thousands $) 

   
Professional fees  98 

Other divestiture related costs   51 

    149  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE CORPORATION 

Dated:  November 6, 2019 

This short form prospectus, together with the documents incorporated by reference, constitutes full, true and plain 
disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this short form prospectus as required by the 
securities legislation of in each of the provinces of Canada. 

(s) Frédéric Dugré (s) Marc Blanchet 
Frédéric Dugré 

Chief Executive Officer 
Marc Blanchet 

Chief Financial Officer 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

(s) Lisa Henthorne (s) Richard A. Hoel 
Lisa Henthorne 

Director
Richard A. Hoel 

Director 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE UNDERWRITERS 

Dated: November 6, 2019 

To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this short form prospectus, together with the documents 
incorporated by reference, constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
offered by this short form prospectus as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces of Canada. 

DESJARDINS SECURITIES INC. CANACCORD GENUITY CORP. 

(s) François Carrier (s) Pierre Fleurent 
François Carrier 

Managing Director, Head of Investment Banking 
Pierre Fleurent 
Senior Advisor 

ACUMEN CAPITAL FINANCE PARTNERS LIMITED 

(s) Kelly Hughes 
Kelly Hughes 

Head of Investment Banking 

BEACON SECURITIES LIMITED INDUSTRIAL ALLIANCE SECURITIES INC. 

(s) Mario Maruzzo (s) Fred Westra 
Mario Maruzzo 

Managing Director, Investment Banking 
Fred Westra 

Executive Vice-President, Managing Director & Head 
of Capital Markets  

HAYWOOD SECURITIES INC. 

(s) Lawrence Rhee 
Lawrence Rhee 

Managing Director, Investment Banking 


